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PROPOSED FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
For the Panel’s convenience, United States Anti-Doping Agency (“USADA”) has structured its proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law in the format of a typical Court of Arbitration for Sport (“CAS”) order.
I. BACKGROUND

1. Respondent was the first place finisher of the 2006 Tour de France (the “Tour”), which took place between July 1 and July 23, 2006.  The Tour is on the racing calendar of the Union Cycliste Internationale (“UCI”) and doping control during the Tour is conducted pursuant to the UCI Anti-Doping Rules (the “UCI Rules”).  Doping control samples collected during the Tour were sent, upon collection, to the Laboratoire National de Dépistage du Dopage (“LNDD”) in Paris for analysis.
2. On July 25, 2006, LNDD reported Respondent’s Stage 17 Sample collected on July 20, 2006, to UCI as an Adverse Analytical Finding.  LNDD’s Adverse Analytical Finding report was based on the detected presence of exogenous testosterone or its precursors or metabolites using Isotope Ratio Mass Spectrometry (“IRMS”) analysis.
3. Pursuant to its Rules, UCI forwarded Respondent’s Stage 17 Adverse Analytical Finding to Respondent’s National Federation (USA Cycling) to conduct further results management and a hearing as required by UCI Rules.  Pursuant to the bylaws of the United States Olympic Committee (Ex. 2, Bylaw 17.2(G)) results management and hearings in doping cases referred by the International Federations to United States National Federations are to be brought by USADA pursuant to the USADA Protocol for Olympic Movement Testing (the “USADA Protocol”).
4. The inspection and analysis of Respondent’s Stage 17 B Sample took place at LNDD on August 3-5, 2006.  Respondent was represented at the B Sample analysis by an expert (Dr. Douwe deBoer) and two attorneys.  Analysis of the Stage 17 B Sample confirmed the A Sample IRMS results.
5. Pursuant to the USADA Protocol, Respondent’s Adverse Analytical Finding was referred to USADA’s Independent Anti-Doping Review Board (the “Review Board”).  After reviewing the LNDD documentation package and submittals from Respondent, the Review Board determined that there was sufficient evidence of doping to proceed with the adjudication process as set forth in the USADA Protocol.  Respondent then requested a hearing pursuant to the USADA Protocol and this case was initiated.
II. APPLICABLE LAW

6. The parties are in agreement that the UCI Rules are the controlling rules in this proceeding.

7. The UCI Rules recite that UCI has accepted the World Anti-Doping Code (“World Code”) and that the World Code is incorporated into UCI’s Anti-Doping Rules.  (Ex. 1, Introduction, page 1).
8. The UCI Rules specifically provide that the International Standards adopted by the World Anti-Doping Agency (“WADA”) are equally controlling under the UCI rules:

Compliance with the International Standards (as opposed to other alternative standards, practice or procedure) shall be sufficient to conclude that the procedures addressed by the International Standards were performed properly.  (Ex. 1, page 48, Definition of International Standard).

9. The UCI Rules in Chapter IX (Ex. 1, page 31) provide general guidance for the conduct of disciplinary hearings before the license-holder’s National Federation (in this case USADA acting on behalf of USA Cycling as required by the Bylaws of the United States Olympic Committee).  (Ex. 2, Article 17.2(G)).  However, the details of the hearing process are left to the regulations of the license-holder’s National Federation.  (Ex. 1, Article 230).  In this case, the regulation that governs the details of the hearing is the USADA Protocol.  (Ex. 3).  Respondent also agreed to be bound by the USADA Protocol by virtue of his UCI license application.  (Ex. 28).
10. Respondent initially suggested that California law should apply to this proceeding.  This argument is rejected because nothing in the relevant rules provides for the application of California law to this arbitration.  Moreover, any suggestion that California law should be applied as a gap-filler is rejected because the Panel finds that the rules set forth above are sufficient to address the issues in this case; consequently, there are no gaps to fill.

III. CHRONOLOGY

11. Sample Collection  

a. Respondent confirmed during the Hearing that he signed his doping control form for Stage 17 with the understanding that his signature indicated his assent to the doping control process, and that the process had no irregularities.  (Tr. at 1632-35).  The absence of objection to sample collection was stipulated to by the parties during the hearing and is also addressed in declarations submitted by Dr. Gerard Bordaberry , Dr. Bruno Tollenaere, J. Alexia, and Wassila Rahali regarding sample collection and receipt at LNDD for all of Respondents Tour samples. 

b. As shown by the declarations, exhibits and testimony, on July 20, 2006, urine Sample #995474 was collected from Respondent at approximately 5:55 p.m. at the Doping Control Station in Morzine Avoriaz following Stage 17 of the Tour.  (Ex. 27).  Sample #995474 was received by LNDD less than four hours later at 9:35 p.m.  (Ex. 24, USADA0023-0024).  
12. Analysis of Sample # 995474 
a. On July 21, 2006, the A Sample #995474 underwent screening for the USADA prohibited list, including screening for stimulants, diuretics, corticosteroids, EPO, and anabolic steroids.  The anabolic steroid screen showed an estimated T/E ratio of 4.9:1.  T/E screen data indicated the occurrence of an inhibition of derivatization (the chemical reaction to make steroids more volatile for analysis).  (Ex. 24, USADA0055).
b. On July 22, 2006, LNDD began confirmation work from new urine aliquots from the A Sample.  The confirmation included two parts:  T/E and IRMS analysis.  In the T/E confirmation, there was a problem with the internal standard (methyltestosterone) being too weak.  Therefore, this first T/E confirmation attempt was rejected.  (Ex. 24, USADA0191).  LNDD also began the IRMS confirmation on the A Sample with the first of three steps in the LNDD IRMS test, namely, sample preparation.
c. On July 23, 2006, LNDD began a second attempt at T/E confirmation from a new urine aliquot from the A Sample.  This confirmation was successful.  The T/E ratio was 11.4:1.  (Ex. 24, USADA0101).  LNDD also did the second and third of the three steps of the IRMS analysis, the pre-IRMS identification by GC MS of the six compounds of interest, and the IRMS analysis.  As part of the IRMS analysis, LNDD measured delta values for each of the six compounds of interest, calculated the corrected delta value, and calculated four differences in delta values (delta/delta values) between metabolite and endogenous reference compound.  (Ex. 24, USADA0186):
etio–11ketoetio 
-2.58 per mil delta/delta

andro–11ketoetio
-3.99 per mil delta/delta

5beta diol-pdiol
-2.15 per mil delta/delta

5alpha diol-pdiol
-6.14 per mil delta/delta
d. On July 25, 2006, the A Sample T/E confirmation vial was reinjected, this time using the screening method.  This second A Sample T/E screen result was 5.1:1.  (Ex. 24, USADA0057).  Following the completion of A Sample confirmations, LNDD reported an Adverse Analytical Finding on A Sample #995474 to UCI.  (Ex. 24, USADA0188-0189).

e. On July 26, 2006, UCI notified USA Cycling, with copies to WADA, USADA and Phonak, that the A Sample provided by Respondent on July 20, 2006, had tested positive for exogenous testosterone or its precursors.  (Ex. 41, USADA0372).

f. On July 27, 2006, USADA notified Respondent that his Stage 17 A Sample had been reported as positive for exogenous testosterone or its precursors.  (Ex. 47, USADA1138‑1142).

g. On July 31, 2006, Respondent sent a letter to USA Cycling, with copies to UCI, USADA, LNDD and Phonak, requesting that the B confirmation tests be performed.  (Ex. 47, USADA1143-1144).  USADA acknowledged the request of Respondent and UCI for the B analysis to be conducted and sent correspondence to UCI and LNDD confirming that the B analysis would commence on August 3, 2006.  (Ex. 41, USADA0382).

h. On August 3, 2006, LNDD began the B Sample analysis.  It included two parts:  T/E and IRMS analysis.  The T/E confirmation began on August 3, 2006, with sample preparation and continued with instrumental analysis on August 3 and 4, 2006.  The T/E ratio was 11.0:1.  (Ex. 25, USADA0288).  The IRMS B confirmation also began on August 3, 2006.  On August 4, 2006, the pre-IRMS identification of the six compounds of interest by GC‑MS took place and the IRMS analysis began in order to measure the delta values for each of the six compounds of interest.  On August 5, 2006, LNDD calculated the corrected delta values and the four differences in delta values between metabolite and endogenous reference compound.  (Ex. 25, USADA0352):

etio–11ketoetio 
-2.02 per mil delta/delta

andro–11ketoetio
-3.51 per mil delta/delta

5beta diol-pdiol
-2.65 per mil delta/delta

5alpha diol-pdiol
-6.39 per mil delta/delta

i. On August 5, 2006, LNDD reported the adverse analytical finding on B Sample #995474 to UCI.  (Ex. 25, USADA0365-0366).  UCI then faxed the results of the B Sample analysis to USA Cycling, with copies to WADA, USADA, Phonak, and Respondent’s attorney.  (Ex. 41, USADA0390-0393).

j. On August 7, 2006, USADA sent correspondence to UCI requesting the full documentation package for Sample #995474.  (Ex. 41, USADA0394-0396).
k. On August 23, 2006, LNDD informed USADA via facsimile that it has sent the full documentation package to USADA via international express mail.  (Ex. 41, USADA0401).

l. On August 30, 2006, USADA sent correspondence to Respondent, in care of Respondent’s attorney, confirming the results of the B Sample analysis, providing Respondent with the relevant rules, the documentation package for the A Sample, the documentation package for the B Sample, and a copy of the package submitting the case to USADA’s independent Anti-Doping Review Board.  (Ex. 47, USADA1145-1148).

m. On September 11, 2006, Respondent filed a submission to the USADA Anti-Doping Review Board, denying the doping allegations against him and challenging the basis for the Adverse Analytical Finding.   
n. On September 19, 2006, USADA sent correspondence to Respondent, in care of Respondent’s attorney, informing him that the Anti-Doping Review Board had met and determined there was sufficient evidence of a doping violation and recommended that the adjudication process proceed.  (Ex. 47, USADA1149-1153).
o. This arbitration has proceeded since that time, culminating in a hearing from May 14-23, 2007.  
13. Analysis of Additional Landis Tour de France Samples
a. USADA originally notified Respondent of its intention to perform this further analysis of the samples he provided after seven stages of the Tour other than Stage 17 on December 27, 2006.  
b. Respondent subsequently sought to prevent further analysis of Respondent’s other Tour samples, including threatening to initiate federal court litigation to enjoin such analysis if USADA took steps to conduct the testing.  Respondent also sought the intervention of the Panel to prevent the further analysis of the remaining samples.  The parties submitted briefs to the Panel on this issue.  
c. On March 17, 2007, the Panel issued its Interlocutory Award allowing the testing of the remaining seven B Samples to proceed.  See ¶ 17 of Interlocutory Award.  

d. Further, at the request of Respondent’s counsel, the majority of the Panel entered an advance evidentiary ruling:

The “B” samples CIR analysis results are admissible as evidence:

(i)
to test the credibility of the Athlete and other witnesses testimony;

(ii)
to satisfy the shifting burden of proof arising from the rebuttable presumptions that a departure from an International Standard with regard to analytical or custodial procedures of a laboratory has occurred as provided by Article 3 of the WADA Code;

(iii)
to corroborate
 the analysis of the “B” sample that was performed by the Lab by providing additional scientific evidence, albeit insufficient to establish an adverse analytical finding;

(iv)
to establish the fact of doping by another reliable means; and 

(v)
may be admissible for reasons unknown at this time.

March 17, 2007, Interlocutory Award, ¶ 24.
e. On April 16, 2007, further analysis of the seven additional samples as well as three additional blind urine samples began, in accordance with the Panel’s Order.  The blank samples ensured blinding of the testing process with regard to the lab technicians.  The blinding process was agreed to and overseen by the representatives of Respondent and USADA attending the testing.  The testing of these samples took place from April 16 – April 23, 2007, with results being reported by LNDD on April 23rd.  The samples were tested on a second IsoPrime instrument at the LNDD, which uses MassLynx software.  As detailed herein, LNDD reported four of Respondent’s seven samples as containing evidence of exogenous testosterone on the basis of IRMS analysis performed.  The documentation packages for the ten samples tested during that week were provided to Respondent on April 26 and 27, 2007 and were exhibits at the hearing.  (Exs. 84-93).
14. Electronic Data Files

a. The Panel appointed Dr. Francesco Botrè to be its expert in this case, in order to provide the Panel with independent, scientific advice and to avoid a “battle of the experts.”  Dr. Botrè was selected by mutual consent of the parties.
  In addition to advising the Panel on the technical aspects of the case, Dr. Botrè oversaw the removal and reprocessing of the electronic data files associated with Respondent’s Stage 17 Sample.  
b. Respondent was permitted to submit instructions to Dr. Botrè regarding what process he wished Dr. Botrè to follow during the electronic data file removal and analysis.  

c. The electronic data file retrieval took place on Thursday, April 26, 2007.

d. At that time, the parties drafted and signed a description of the procedures followed to obtain the electronic data files.  

e. Following a conference call between the parties on May 2, 2007, regarding how the reprocessing of the electronic data files was to occur, representatives for the parties traveled again to LNDD to observe Dr. Botrè direct reprocessing of the electronic data files.  

f. The reprocessing took place on May 4-5, 2007.  During that time, at Respondent’s request Dr. Botrè supervised the reprocessing the original Stage 17 Sample results on both the IsoPrime instrument running the OS2 software and the instrument running the MassLynx software.  Furthermore, at the request of Respondent, the results were reprocessed both with and without the automatic background subtraction feature of the OS2 software.  

g. Dr. Botrè subsequently produced a detailed report on the electronic data file reprocessing.  (Ex. 114).
15. The hearing was held at the Pepperdine Law School Courtroom in Malibu, California.  Respondent exercised his right under the USADA Protocol to have his hearing open to the public.  The hearing was also recorded on video in its entirety and was available live on the Internet.  
16. In order to balance the right to a public hearing with the need for an orderly and fair hearing, the Panel entered in advance of the hearing a number of procedural orders regarding confidentiality and publicity.

17. Procedural Order No. 1 contained the following requirements regarding confidentiality:

28.
From the beginning of the hearing and until the rendering of the decision of the Panel, the parties and their counsels are requested not to engage in any public comment on the hearing or the arbitration procedure.

29.
In furtherance of the foregoing decisions, the Panel orders the parties to keep all documents confidential disclosed through the process of document discovery.  Documents will only become public as they are filed as exhibits at the arbitration hearing.  The process of releasing such exhibits to the media will be covered in the rules to be developed by the draft order as mentioned in paragraph 20.  The Panel reserves the right to not release certain exhibits if it is determined that there is good reason to keep them confidential.  Such rulings will be made by the Panel at the time of admitting the document as an exhibit at the arbitration following a request to so rule by one of the parties counsel.  

18. After Respondent provided information from documents produced by LNDD in discovery to a reporter for the Los Angeles Times, the Panel issued Procedural Order No. 2 which further clarified the obligations of the parties:

In further support of the above quoted matters dealt with in Order No. 1 it is now apparent that it would be both advisable and necessary that there be some additional directions to augment and supplement those directions already found in Order No. 1. Therefore, the Panel directs that the parties’ briefs, transcripts of the proceedings and procedural orders may not become public sooner than the first day of arbitration currently scheduled for 14 May 2007. Furthermore all of the foregoing confidentiality provisions are to be kept confidential by all persons who may have access to them by virtue of their consulting, agency or other relationship with the parties.
Procedural Order No. 2 at paragraph 7.
19. While the Panel believed these confidentiality requirements to be sufficiently clear, and indeed the Orders were followed by USADA, Respondent engaged in a pattern of conduct violating these Orders.
  Each time that USADA raised an alleged violation of the Procedural Orders to the Panel’s attention, Respondent answered with a technical argument as to why the order had not been violated, along with promises from Respondent’s counsel that future violations would be avoided.  However, the pattern of violations by Respondent leads the Panel to conclude that Respondent intentionally chose to disregard the Orders of the Panel regarding confidentiality and publicity.  

20. Respondent’s violations continued after the hearing, when Respondent not only published a book commenting on the proceedings in violation of the express provisions of Procedural Order No. 1, but also elected to appear on a number of talk shows prior to the release of the Panel’s decision, where he directly discussed the hearing and his intentional violation of the Panel’s Order.
21. Respondent’s actions in this regard display a disregard for the authority of the Panel and the validity of the process.  When one party to a proceeding consistently and intentionally violates the binding orders of the Panel, it places the integrity of the proceeding at risk.  Accordingly, although, while the Panel concludes that it would be inappropriate to set the precedent of allowing such conduct to proceed unchecked, the Panel has wrestled with identifying a sanction that will appropriately address these willful violations of the Panel’s Orders.

22. In the end, the Panel has concluded that the appropriate sanction for Respondent’s willful misconduct is for the Panel to acknowledge Respondent’s misconduct for what it really is -- clear and consistent evidence that Respondent considers himself to be above the rules of this proceeding and therefore has repeatedly violated the rules of this proceeding for his own gain.  The natural consequence of this acknowledgement is that Respondent’s credibility before this Panel is necessarily compromised.  It is illogical for Respondent to consistently break the rules by intentionally violating the Panel’s Orders and then expect the Panel to give weight to his testimony that, for example, he did not break the anti-doping rules of the UCI.  

23. The hearing commenced on May 14, 2007, and concluded on May 23, 2007, with Sunday, May 20, 2007, being an off day.  The available hearing time was divided equally between the parties, with each party being charged with the time spent in direct and cross examination of witnesses.  In the middle of day seven, when Respondent had already used all but approximately seven hours of his allotted 22.8 hours, USADA offered Respondent three to fours hours of USADA’s time, so that the Respondent would have adequate time to present his case.
24. The Panel’s retained expert, Dr. Francesco Botrè, was present throughout the hearing except for a portion of the cross examination of Mr. Joseph Papp.  The Panel was assisted for the first five days of the hearing by Andreas Zagklis, as ad hoc clerk and for the last four days by Rosalie Brunel, as ad hoc clerk. 

25. USADA called the following witnesses:  
(a) Cedrick H.L. Shackleton from the Children’s Hospital Oakland Research Institute.
(b) J. Thomas Brenna, a Professor of Nutritional Sciences at Cornell University.  

(c) Cynthia Mongongu, an Analytical Chemist from LNDD.  
(d) Claire Frelat, an Analytical Chemist from LNDD.
(e) Greg LeMond, a three-time Tour de France winner. 
(f) Christiane Ayotte, the Director of the Montreal WADA Accredited Laboratory. 
(g) Joseph Papp, a professional cyclist.
(h) Wilhelm Schänzer, Ph.D., the Director of the Institute of Biochemistry of the German Sports University Cologne.  
(i) Don H. Catlin, Professor Emeritus of Molecular and Medical Pharmacology and Founder and Former Director of the Olympic Analytical Laboratory at UCLA.  
26. Respondent called the following witnesses: 

(j) Dr. Corinne Buisson, the IRMS Supervisor at LNDD.
(k) Bruce Goldberger from the Department of Pathology, Immunology and Laboratory Medicine and Department of Psychiatry at University of Florida. 
(l) Floyd Landis, the Respondent.  
(m) Wolfram Meier-Augenstein, senior lecturer in Environmental Forensics at Queen’s University in Belfast, Ireland.  
(n) John K. Amory, medical doctor and Professor at the University of Washington.
(o) Simon Davis, Technical Director of Mass Spec Solutions.  
27. At the insistence of Respondent, the Panel directed USADA in its Procedural Order dated March 23, 2007, to make available LNDD witnesses for in-person testimony during the hearing.  Those individuals were:  Jacques de Ceaurriz; Cynthia Mongongu; Esther Cerpolini; Ruddy Barlagne; Claire Frelat; and Agnes Gaillard.  Respondent insisted that these individuals were necessary to have present in person, regardless of the inconvenience to the laboratory in having so many individuals absent at once, and regardless of the personal schedules of the witnesses (many of whom had planned vacations during the time of the hearing to coincide with a French holiday).  Despite being present in the hearing room and available to give live testimony pursuant to the Panel’s Order, neither Ms. Cerpolini, Mr. Barlagne, Ms. Gaillard, nor Dr. de Ceaurriz was called by Respondent during the course of the hearing.  Because the Respondent requested the presence of these witnesses and caused the Panel to order them to be present, but did not call them as witnesses, the Panel finds that the costs of their attendance shall be assessed against the Respondent. 

28. During the hearing, Respondent argued that the testimony of Dr. Ayotte, Dr. Schänzer and Dr. Catlin was restricted by the WADA Code of Ethics.  Specifically, Respondent points to Section 3.3 of the WADA Code of Ethics which states:

The Laboratory should not engage in testing or expert testimony that would call into question the integrity of the individual or the scientific validity of work performed in the anti-doping program.

Respondent submitted that this position requires Directors of WADA-Accredited Laboratory to: (1) not agree to testify on behalf of athletes in anti-doping adjudication; and (2) if called to testify under oath by an anti-doping agency in a proceeding to affirmatively hide, or intentionally fail to disclose, facts or opinions that would benefit the athlete.
29. With respect to the first point, Dr. Catlin stated that he had in fact previously testified on behalf of athlete, Zach Lund, at the request of USADA. 
30. Respondent’s second contention – that the Panel should find that Dr. Ayotte, Dr. Schänzer, and Dr. Catlin were somehow limited in their ability to tell the truth under oath – finds no support either in the language of Section 3.3 or in the evidence submitted during the hearing.  The Panel finds that each of the above witnesses complied with the requirements of the oath they swore prior to testimony and that there was no indication that they gave anything but truthful and complete answers to all questions asked.

31. Accordingly, the Panel rejects Respondent’s attempt to cast doubt on the credibility of these witnesses by stretching the provisions of Section 3.3 into a suggestion that any of these respected professionals would compromise their personal and professional integrity by not being fully truthful in their testimony.

IV. BURDEN OF PROOF

32. USADA has the burden of establishing to the Panel’s comfortable satisfaction that an anti-doping rule violation occurred in this case.  (Ex. 1, UCI Article 16).  With respect to the validity of LNDD’s laboratory results, that burden is satisfied, in the first instance, by the presumption found in UCI Article 18.  Under UCI Article 18, LNDD is presumed to have conducted its laboratory analysis and bottle handling procedures in accordance with the International Standard for Laboratories (“ISL”).  By virtue of the definition of “International Standard” found in UCI Rules, LNDD’s presumed compliance with the ISL means that LNDD is presumed to have performed the analysis on Respondent’s sample properly.
33. Respondent has the opportunity to rebut this presumption in favor of LNDD’s analytical results by establishing by a balance of probability that LNDD departed from the ISL.  (Ex. 1, UCI Articles 16 and 18).  The burden would then shift back to USADA to establish that the departure did not cause the Adverse Analytical Finding.  (Ex. 1, UCI Article 19).
  
34. In this case, the Panel is comfortably satisfied, even without the presumption in favor of the laboratory in UCI Article 18 that LNDD’s analytical results of Respondent’s Stage 17 Sample are reliable and support the Adverse Analytical Finding.
V. GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF IRMS ANALYSIS
35. IRMS analysis is not a new or experimental method.  It has been used for decades in general science, for example, to identify adulterated products.  (Ex. 40 at USADA1234; see also, testimony of Dr. Schänzer (Tr. at 1123-25)).  IRMS analysis has been used in anti-doping to detect the use of exogenous testosterone or its precursors since the mid 1990s.  The detection of exogenous testosterone using the IRMS method was deemed conclusive proof of doping in the 1999 Olympic Movement Anti-Doping Code.  (Ex. 7, Article IV(2)).  Similarly, the WADA 2006 Prohibited List, which is incorporated into the UCI Rules, provides that the detection of the presence of exogenous testosterone using IRMS is definitive proof of doping:  

In all cases, and at any concentration, the Athlete’s sample will be deemed to contain a Prohibited Substance and the laboratory will report an Adverse Analytical Finding if, based on any reliable analytical method (e.g. IRMS), the laboratory can show that the Prohibited Substance is of exogenous origin.  In such case, no further investigation is necessary.
See Ex. 5, p. 3.
36. Dr. Schänzer, the director of the WADA Accredited Laboratory in Cologne, testified that the Cologne Laboratory has been using IRMS to detect exogenous testosterone in urine samples since 1997 and in the last three years Cologne has reported 50 or 60 samples as Adverse Analytical Findings using IRMS.  (Tr. at 1124-25).

37. Numerous CAS panels and other arbitration tribunals have upheld anti-doping rule violations based on IRMS analysis.  For example, in Susin v. FINA, the CAS Panel held:  

Based upon the above analysis, the Panel has concluded that:  (a) the IRMS analysis provides conclusive scientific evidence of an exogenous administration of testosterone and; (b) the Panel is entitled to rely upon the IRMS analysis as an independent and sufficient basis for finding that the Appellant committed a doping offence under FINA Rule DC 2.1(a).  (Susin v. FINA, Ex. 14, paragraph 220). 
See also, IAAF v. Dos Santos (Ex. 15, paragraphs 11 and 162); WADA v. Wium (Ex. 16, paragraphs 6.10-6.14); IAAF v. Czech Athletic Federation and Z (Ex. 17, paragraphs 27-30); UCI v. S, DCU and DIF (Ex. 21, paragraph 29); UCI v. Moller (Ex. 18, paragraphs 11 and 13); UCI v. Bakker and KNWU (Ex. 19, paragraphs 10.2.6-10.2.14); UCI v. Skelde (Ex. 20, page 21).  Several of these decisions involved Adverse Analytical Findings reported by LNDD.
38. There has never been a CAS case where the scientific reliability of the IRMS method to detect exogenous testosterone has not been upheld.  Even in UCI v. Landaluce (Ex. 22), where the doping determination was overturned because the same laboratory personnel had participated in analyzing the A and B Samples, the Panel clearly rejected the various challenges raised to LNDD’s IRMS methodology.  Respondent is raising many of the same arguments that were rejected by the Landaluce Panel. 

39. The LNDD IRMS process consists of three main steps:  sample preparation, pre-IRMS compound identification, and IRMS analysis.  The first of the three steps in the LNDD IRMS process is sample preparation.  As Ms. Mongongu testified, this step takes about a day and half.  (Tr. at 409-410).  It includes steps such as extraction, cleavage of sugars attached to the desired compounds by the body’s biochemistry, a chemical reaction with a reagent to attach a chemical to the desired compounds to make them easier to vaporize (derivatization as acetates), and fractionation into three parts (fractions F1, F2 and F3) for optimal recovery of the six compounds of interest:  four testosterone metabolites, namely, androsterone (“andro”), etiocholanolone (“etio”), 5-beta-androstane-3-alpha,17-beta-diol (“5beta diol”), and 5-alpha-androstane-3-alpha,17-beta-diol (“5alpha diol”); and two endogenous reference compounds, namely 11-ketoetiocholanolone (“11keto”) and 5-beta-pregnane-3-alpha,20-alpha-diol (“pdiol”).  F1 contains 11keto, F2 contains andro and etio, and F3 contains 5beta diol, 5alpha diol and pdiol.  Next, an internal standard (5-alpha-androstanol acetate) is added to establish a standard retention time which is used in peak identification.  Side by side with the sample, a blank urine quality control sample undergoes identical analytical steps.  The blank urine has previously been certified to be negative, and blank urine measurements from the same pool are monitored over weeks and months to verify assay performance and results accuracy in a urine matrix.  In other words, if on any one day the blank urine results are as expected, that is one element of proof that the assay is performing correctly on that day and that the results obtained are reliable.
40. The second of the three steps in the LNDD’s IRMS process is pre-IRMS compound identification by GC-MS.  GC separates the compounds present in a mixture and MS identifies them based on their molecular fingerprint.
41. The third of the three steps in the LNDD’s IRMS process is analysis of the athlete’s sample on the GC/IRMS instrument.  In this step, each separated steroid enters the combustion furnace where it is completely combusted.  Every carbon atom in the molecule is converted to carbon dioxide (CO2).  The CO2 then enters the GC/IRMS instrument.  The GC/IRMS instrument is a type of mass spectrometer that measures only three masses:  44, 45 and 46.  From the three signals, the instrument software calculates a “delta value” which reflects the 13C/12C (carbon 13 to carbon 12) ratio within the molecule. The delta value is actually the difference between the carbon 13 to carbon 12 ratio of the sample and that of an international standard, a material called PDB.  By definition, the delta value of PDB is zero.  Natural testosterone contains less carbon 13 than PDB.  For example, if natural testosterone contains 21 parts per thousand less carbon 13 than PDB, then its delta value is -21 per mil.  Pharmaceutical testosterone contains even less carbon 13 than natural testosterone.  For example, if pharmaceutical testosterone contains 29 parts per thousand less carbon 13 than PDB, then its delta value is -29 per mil.
42. In this third step, LNDD measures a delta value for each of six steroids of interest, namely:  the four metabolites, andro, etio, 5beta diol, and 5alpha diol; and the two endogenous reference standards, 11keto (for comparison to metabolites andro and etio) and pdiol (for comparison to metabolites 5beta diol and 5alpha diol).  LNDD then calculates four differences in delta values between metabolite and endogenous reference compound: etio–11keto, andro–11keto, 5beta diol-pdiol, and 5alpha diol-pdiol.
43. The body naturally makes testosterone from cholesterol (which is also a steroid) by converting or “metabolizing” cholesterol to testosterone via many successive steps and intermediate steroids.  In addition to this metabolic pathway, there are other pathways branching out from cholesterol to other steroids, some of which are not involved in testosterone metabolism (e.g., 11keto or pdiol).  The body also naturally converts testosterone to by-products or “metabolites” with the same carbon backbone, but which have differences in the number of oxygen and hydrogen atoms or their arrangement.  In a drug-free person, the natural testosterone might have a delta value of -21, and the delta value of the natural testosterone metabolites will not be significantly different, because the carbon framework remains the same.  In contrast, if a person takes pharmaceutical testosterone, for example, with a delta value of -29, when this pharmaceutical testosterone is metabolized, its carbon framework will remain the same, and the metabolites will have a delta value of -29.  In real cases, a given metabolite found in urine might be a mixture of natural and pharmaceutical material; therefore its overall delta value might be somewhere in between, for example, -28.  In contrast, the delta values of testosterone precursors, or of endogenous steroids not involved in testosterone metabolism, remain unchanged; therefore they can be used as endogenous reference compounds.  WADA rules provide that a significant difference in delta value (>3 delta units) between a testosterone metabolite and an endogenous reference compound establishes the use of exogenous testosterone or of a precursor. 
44. This is illustrated in the figure below.  
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Ex. 38, Fig. 2.
VI. WADA POSITIVITY CRITERIA FOR AN ADVERSE ANALYTICAL FINDING BY IRMS ANALYSIS

45. In August 2004, WADA issued Technical Document 2004 EAAS (“TD2004EAAS”) (Ex. 9), which established a positivity criteria for the IRMS method.  The positivity criteria established in TD2004EAAS is as follows:

The results will be reported as consistent with the administration of a steroid when the 13C/12C value measured for the metabolite(s) differs significantly i.e. by 3 delta units or more from that of the urinary reference steroid chosen.  In some Samples, the measure of the 13C/12C value of the urinary reference steroid(s) may not be possible due to their low concentration.  The results of such analyses will be reported as ‘inconclusive’ unless the ratio measured for the metabolite(s) is below ‑28‰ based on non-derivatised steroid.
46. As is apparent from the language of TD2004EAAS and as confirmed in the testimony of Dr. Ayotte, who was the member of the WADA Laboratory Committee most responsible for TD2004EAAS, a sample should be reported as an Adverse Analytical Finding for the administration of exogenous testosterone when the 13C/12C value for a single metabolite differs by 3 delta units or more from the applicable endogenous reference steroid.  (Tr. at 816-18).  Respondent presented no evidence at the hearing that casts doubt on this interpretation of TD2004EAAS.
47. When WADA establishes positivity criteria in a technical document, the criteria become the relevant standard for determining whether any analytical result is an Adverse Analytical Finding.  See e.g., Canadian Anti-Doping Program and Christopher Sheppard.  (Ex. 105, paragraph 53).  In that case, the Panel found that LNDD was entitled to rely on the positivity criteria established in TD2004EAAS.  
VII. RESPONDENT’S STAGE 17 IRMS ADVERSE ANALYTICAL FINDING

48. LNDD reported Respondent’s Stage 17 Sample as an Adverse Analytical Finding because the presence of exogenous testosterone was found in both Respondent’s A and B Samples using IRMS analysis.  (Tr. at 448-52 (Testimony of Ms. Mongongu); Tr. at 679-80 (Testimony of Ms. Frelat)).  
49. The IRMS results reported by LNDD for the A and B specimens of Respondent’s Stage 17 Sample collected on July 20, 2006 are as follows:

	
	UCI 
Sample #
	5alpha diol-Pdiol
	5beta diol-Pdiol
	Andro-11keto
	Etio-11Keto
	LNDD Page#

	Respondent’s A Sample
	995474A
	-6.14
	-2.15
	-3.99
	-2.58
	USADA0186

	Respondent’s B Sample
	995474B
	-6.39
	-2.65
	-3.51
	-2.02
	USADA0352


50. The positivity criteria set forth in LNDD’s standard operating procedure (Ex. 24, USADA0186) is actually more conservative, in favor of the athlete, than the WADA criteria.  To account for uncertainty in its IRMS measurements, which LNDD determined in a study to be +0.8delta units (Ex. 26, LNDD0456), LNDD only reports a sample as an Adverse Analytical Finding if the difference between a testosterone metabolite and its endogenous reference compound is -3.8 delta units or more.
51. LNDD reported Respondent’s sample as an Adverse Analytical Finding because the difference between the 5alpha diol metabolite and the pdiol endogenous reference compound in Respondent’s A Sample was -6.14 delta units and in his B Sample it was -6.39 delta units.

52. LNDD’s IRMS method was specifically accredited by Comité Français d’Accréditation (“COFRAC”), the International Standards Organization (“ISO”) accreditation body in France, during an inspection of LNDD approximately six months prior to the testing of Respondent’s A Sample.  The COFRAC inspection report stated in part that the IRMS method was very well “under control with maximum analytical precautions taken by the section staff,” and that LNDD unquestionably had the capacity of implementing good efficiency in the methods subject to review, including the IRMS method.  (Ex. 26, LNDD0397).
53. As Dr. Ayotte explained, when COFRAC specifically listed LNDD’s IRMS method under LNDD’s scope of accreditation, it meant that LNDD’s IRMS method and paperwork had been carefully reviewed by the auditors and found to be compliant with the good quality management principles of ISO document 17025 (Tr. at 815-16) and the requirements of the ISL.  (For example, in Ex. 26, LNDD0401 at the top of the page, COFRAC makes specific reference to TD2004EAAS and makes a minor suggestion on reporting of IRMS results consistent with TD2004EAAS.  See also Ex. 26, LNDD0076, which makes clear that the certification is based on examination against the WADA requirement documents, as well as ISO 17025.)
54. The heart of Respondent’s defense in this case is Respondent’s allegation that the IRMS results reported by LNDD for Respondent’s Stage 17 Sample are not scientifically reliable.  This allegation is based in part on general claims that LNDD did poor quality work both in IRMS analysis and T/E ratio analysis and criticisms of specific aspects of LNDD’s work, including allegations that LNDD violated provisions of the ISL.  

55. As noted in paragraphs 8 and 32 of this opinion, under UCI Rules, there is a rebuttable presumption under UCI Rules that LNDD performed its analysis properly.  The Panel finds that Respondent has not carried his burden to rebut this presumption, as Respondent did not establish that a departure from the ISL occurred.  
56. Further, in those respects in which Respondent challenges the general competence of the LNDD personnel or particular steps in LNDD’s IRMS method, the Panel is not inclined to substitute its judgment for that of the ISO inspectors.  

57. With respect to both Respondent’s general and specific complaints, the Panel is comfortably satisfied, based on its evaluation of the witness testimony and exhibits, and without relying on either the presumption or the significance of LNDD’s ISO accreditation, that the IRMS results reported by LNDD for Respondent’s Stage 17 Sample are a reliable basis for the Adverse Analytical Finding reported by LNDD.  

58. Respondent’s expert witnesses, Dr. Goldberger, Dr. Meier-Augenstein, and Dr. Davis, expressed their opinions that various aspects of the work performed by LNDD were of poor quality.  The witnesses called by USADA, on the other hand, were unequivocal in their testimony that the IRMS analysis performed by LNDD on Respondent’s Stage 17 Sample was reliable.  Dr. Ayotte (Tr. at 801-02), Dr. Schänzer (Tr. at 1127-28; 1149-50), and Dr. Catlin (Tr. at 1192-93), three of the most experienced laboratory directors in the WADA accredited Laboratory System, all stated that after reviewing LNDD’s documentation, they had no doubt that Respondent had committed an anti-doping rule violation.
59. Dr. Brenna, who is one of the world’s leading experts in the use of IRMS and its use in biological systems, explained at length why the mix cal IRMS, mix cal acetate and blank urine controls which LNDD ran in sequence with Respondent’s Stage 17 A and B specimens established that the IRMS instrument was working properly.  (Tr. at 236-44).  Dr. Brenna concluded that the IRMS chromatograms on which the delta/delta values reported for Respondent’s Stage 17 Sample were based were reliable.  (Tr. at 234-35).  Dr. Shackleton, who is an expert in steroid metabolism and is also very experienced in chromatography, also concluded that the IRMS chromatograms were reliable.  (Tr. at 198-207).  
60. The various challenges raised by Respondent to the validity of the analytical results of his Stage 17 Sample are discussed separately below.  
B. Operating Pressure 

61. The manual for the IsoPrime instrument states that the operating pressure should be kept below 5E-6 millibars (GDC0522, Section 6).  Respondent’s expert Dr. Davis expressed his opinion that problems with operating pressure could make the numbers reported by the instrument become unreliable.

62. LNDD’s A Sample Documentation Package (Ex. 24, USADA0176) shows that the operating pressure of LNDD’s IRMS instrument prior to the analysis of the mix cal IRMS and mix cal acetate controls in Respondent’s A Sample was 5.2E-6 millibars, slightly above the operating pressure referenced in the manual.
63. Ms. Mongongu of LNDD testified that, contrary to statement in the IsoPrime user’s manual, she had been advised by Pasquel Parmentier, the service engineer for the instrument manufacturer (Micromass, later known as GV Instruments), that operating pressures up to 6E-6 millibars were acceptable.  Ms. Mongongu further testified that, in performing routine maintenance on the instrument, Mr. Parmentier had left the instrument set at operating pressure of 5.5 or 5.6E-6 millibars.  (Tr. at 654-55).

64. Dr. Brenna explained in his testimony that, if there had been a problem with the operating pressure of the instrument during the A Sample analysis, then that problem would have been reflected in the quality control samples run by LNDD and it was not.  (Tr. at 245).  The Panel notes that, as reflected on Exhibit 24, USADA0175, the delta values recorded for the A Sample mix cal acetate controls were very close to the reference values established by an outside reference laboratory.  Similarly, the A Sample values reported for the mix cal IRMS controls and blank urine controls were comparable to the values historically reported for these controls (Exs. 38 and 107).  Finally, the delta values reported for Respondent’s A Sample, were comparable to the delta values reported for Respondent’s B Sample where the reported operating pressure was only 2.8E-6 millibars.  (Ex. 25, USADA0355).  If the operating pressure at the time the A Sample was too high, the results would not have been the same as the B Sample results, where there is no question that operating pressure was acceptable.
65. The Panel is satisfied that Respondent’s A Sample results are not unreliable because of improper operating pressure.

C. Linearity

66. Linearity refers to the ability of an IRMS instrument to accurately measure the isotopic composition of material that is admitted into the instrument whether the amount of the material is a large or small quantity (Testimony of Dr. Brenna at Tr. at 248).  Put another way, the delta values for small peaks and large peaks of the same substance should be the same within experimental error.

67. Respondent claims that linearity problems with LNDD’s IRMS instrument could have caused inaccuracies in reported results.  Respondent makes three claims with regard to linearity:  (1) Respondent claims that LNDD did not measure linearity on at least monthly basis as required by its standard operating procedure (Ex. 112, LNDD0547); (2) Respondent claims that LNDD did not measure linearity over the full range of peak intensities found in Respondent’s sample; and (3) Respondent claims that, by his expert’s “rough” calculation (Tr. at 1985), LNDD’s linearity results were outside of a specification which Respondent’s expert downloaded from the instrument manufacturer’s website.  

68. USADA responds that, while LNDD may not have checked linearity monthly as described in its standard operating procedure, it did check linearity within a month of the dates on which Respondent’s A and B Samples were analyzed, which is all that is relevant to this case.  The exhibits reflect that LNDD conducted linearity tests on 26 June 2006 (LNDD0313), 31 July 2006 (LNDD0320), and 25 September 2006 (LNDD0327).  IRMS analysis was performed on Respondent’s A and B Samples on July 23, 2006 and on August 4, 2006, respectively.

69. Respondent claims that the intensity of the 5alpha diol peak from Respondent’s sample was smaller than the smallest intensity measured by LNDD during linearity testing.  Respondent reaches this conclusion by looking at peak “areas.”  Respondent’s expert Dr. Meier-Augenstein testified that peak area is an appropriate way to look at peak intensity for linearity purposes.  USADA’s expert Dr. Brenna, on the other hand, testified that linearity in IRMS analysis is commonly understood to be evaluated by peak heights.  (Tr. at 1943).  The intensity of the 5alpha diol peak, when evaluated on the basis of peak height, is above the low range of the linearity tests done by LNDD.  (Tr. at 1942, 1953).  In addition, the IsoPrime Users Manual refers to the measurement of linearity in terms of peak “height.”
  Thus, the Panel is satisfied that all of the metabolites and endogenous reference compounds identified by LNDD in its IRMS analysis of Respondent’s sample are within the range of intensities measured by LNDD in its linearity testing.

70. In the last minutes of the hearing after nine days of evidence, Respondent recalled his expert Dr. Davis who produced a linearity specification for the IsoPrime instrument which he had downloaded from the GV Instruments website off the internet.  Dr. Davis testified that this internet specification provided that in linearity testing, the values of the same compound should not vary more than 0.3 per mil.  By Dr. Davis’s “rough” estimates, some of LNDD’s linearity measurements varied by 0.4 per mil.  This GV Instruments specification was not referenced in any of Respondent’s pre-hearing briefs nor was it identified as an exhibit prior to trial as directed by the Panel’s Order of March 23, 2007. The Panel is inclined to discount this last minute exhibit for several reasons.  First, given the timing of Respondent’s production of his exhibit, USADA had virtually no opportunity to challenge it.  Second, as the Panel noted in its questions to Dr. Davis, the internet specification applies to a more recent model of IsoPrime instrument, not the original model used by LNDD in analyzing Respondent’s Stage 17 Sample.  Third, the formula for checking linearity for the original IsoPrime instrument is set forth in the IsoPrime Users Manual which is one of Respondent’s exhibits.  (GDC0522, pages 31 and 32 of Section 6 “operating instructions”).  If LNDD’s linearity tests had not satisfied the criteria in the Users Manual, Respondent would presumably have brought that fact to the attention of the Panel.  Finally, it is a non sequitur for Dr. Davis to suggest to the Panel that it should give significant weight to the minute difference between 0.3 mills per nano amp and 0.4 mills per nano amp based on his “rough” estimates.
71. The Panel is not persuaded by Respondent’s speculation that there may have been linearity problems with the LNDD’s IRMS instrument that affected the results of his Stage 17 Sample.  Although there was disagreement between the testifying experts, the Panel was persuaded by the testimony of Dr. Brenna that the results of the Stage 17 analysis were not affected by any linearity problem.  (Tr. at 239, 247, 329).  In particular, the Panel notes Dr. Brenna’s testimony that linearity is typically not a problem at lower levels of peak intensity, which is the case with both the 5alpha diol and pdiol peaks (Tr. at 331) and that linearity would not be a factor when comparing the delta values of two peaks which are close to the same intensity such as the 5alpha diol peak and the pdiol peak.  (Tr. at 1944).

72. The Panel is also persuaded by Dr. Brenna’s testimony that, if there had been a linearity problem with LNDD’s instrument on the days that Respondent’s A specimen and B specimen were analyzed, the problem would have been reflected in the control results.  (Tr. at 242-47).

73. Furthermore, Dr. Meier-Augenstein acknowledged that the mix cal acetate controls established that the instrument was operating perfectly well within the specifications for a clean matrix.  (Tr. at 1449).  By acknowledging that the mix cal acetate control was “a very nice way to test whether the instrument on the benign condition operates perfectly well within the specifications” (Tr. at 1449), Dr. Meier-Augenstein undermines the argument that the instrument was not working properly because of operating pressure or linearity problems. 
D. Bottle Chain of Custody.

74. Respondent alleges that LNDD violated the ISL’s requirements for bottle chain of custody.  This claim is based on Respondent’s assumption that the ISL requires that the individuals on both sides of every transfer be reflected on a contemporaneous chain of custody document.  USADA responds that the ISL does not require a form identifying the person on each side of every transfer (e.g., A to B, B to C, C to D).  Instead it is USADA’s position that it is sufficient that the separate chain of custody documents in LNDD’s files identify each person who had custody of the sample bottle (e.g., A, B, C, D).

75. USADA’s interpretation of the ISL requirement was supported by testimony of Dr. Ayotte, a member of the WADA Laboratory Committee at the time the technical document was published by WADA.  (Tr. at 821-25).  Dr. Ayotte testified that the ISL does not require the identification of both parties each time the bottle is transferred.  (Tr. at 823-24).  Dr. Ayotte also stated that she was able to go through the LNDD documentation to determine where the bottle was and who had custody (Tr. at 842) at each stage of the analysis.  Finally, Dr. Ayotte expressed her opinion that the chain of custody documents produced by LNDD met the requirements of the ISL and WADA technical document on chain of custody.  (Tr. at 821-25).
76. The only witness called by Respondent to testify concerning chain of custody was Dr. Goldberger.  Dr. Goldberger noted generally that it is good laboratory practice for chain of custody documentation to record all transfers.  (Tr. at 1050-53).  However, Dr. Goldberger’s only testimony directed specifically to LNDD’s Stage 17 Sample chain of custody was a reference to the non-forensic corrections which he observed in LNDD’s chain of custody.  (Tr. at 1045).  Dr. Goldberger has no experience with the ISL and he offered no opinion on whether LNDD’s chain of custody documentation complied with the ISL.

77. The applicable ISL standard for laboratory bottle chain of custody is set forth in Article 5.2.2.2 of the ISL and WADA TD2003LCOC.

ISL Article 5.2.2.2 provides:

5.2.2.2  The Laboratory shall have Laboratory Internal Chain of Custody procedures to maintain control of and accountability for Samples from receipt through final disposition of the Samples. The procedures must incorporate the concepts presented in the WADA Technical Document for Laboratory Internal Chain of Custody (Annex C)” (emphasis added).

The WADA Technical Document for Laboratory Internal Chain of Custody is TD2003LCOC (Ex. 102), which provides:

The Laboratory Internal Chain of Custody is documentation (worksheets, logbooks, forms, etc.) that records the movement of Samples and Sample Aliquots during analysis.  A Laboratory Internal Chain of Custody does not require a separate form.  Within the Laboratory, the Laboratory Internal Chain of Custody shall be a continuous record of individuals in possession of the samples or Sample Aliquots.  When not in an individual’s possession, it should be documented that the Sample or Aliquot is within a controlled zone (Ref International Standard for Laboratories 5.4.3.2).  The Sample or Aliquot must be in an individual’s possession when in an uncontrolled or unsecured area of the laboratory.  The entry into the Laboratory Internal Chain of Custody should be completed at the time that any change of possession occurs.  The Laboratory Internal Chain of Custody must contain the name or initials of the individual, date of transfer, and the purpose of the transfer of possession.  The individual’s complete signature/name should appear in the documentation at least once.

A chain of custody is required for both ‘A’ and ‘B’ Sample bottles and every Aliquot prepared for a testing procedure.  In the case of Samples, the Laboratory Internal Chain of Custody should record all movement from receipt in the Laboratory through storage and sampling to disposal ...

Any forensic corrections that need to be made to the document should be done with a single line through and the change should be initialed and dated by the individual making the change.  No white out or erasure that obliterates the original entry is acceptable.

The chain of custody, along with relevant testimony from individuals documented on the chain of custody documents, should provide a complete record of the Sample or Aliquot location.

The contemporaneous LNDD documents reflecting bottle chain of custody are itemized in Paragraph 26 of USADA’s Pre-Trial Response Brief.  Those documents more than comply with the “concepts presented” in the WADA Technical Document; they comply literally with the WADA Technical Document.

78. The Technical Document does not require that the transferor and transferee must be identified on the same document.  Rather, it states that the chain of custody must contain the name or initials of the “individual” (singular), thus clearly implying that the individuals on both sides of the transfer need not be identified on the form.  For example, on the only occasion where Respondent asked a LNDD witness about chain of custody, Ms. Mongongu was cross-examined by Respondent on the following exchange of the A Sample bottle.  USADA0253 shows that Esther Cerpolini had the A bottle in room 103 at 10:50 a.m. on July 22nd for the purpose of performing the aliquot for the first attempt at T/E confirmation.  See also USADA0006 and USADA0200.  Ms. Mongongu testified that she retrieved the bottle on July 22nd at 11:20 a.m. to get aliquots for the IRMS confirmation in room 104.  (Tr. at 532-34).  See also USADA0119.  Ms. Mongongu testified that she obtained the sample from room 103, the T/E sample preparation room, where the sample was on the rack (Tr. at 533).  USADA0253, as well as USADA0006, show that the A bottle was next transferred to freezer CH.FR1 by Ms.  Cerpolini at 12:45 p.m. for storage.  LNDD’s documentation of this exchange complies with the Technical Document because these forms make clear the times at which Ms. Cerpolini and Ms. Mongongu each had possession of the A Sample bottle, the purpose for which Ms. Cerpolini and Ms. Mongongu each had possession, and the location within the laboratory where possession by them was maintained.  In addition, Ms. Mongongu testified that room 103 (the sample preparation room for T/E ratio) and room 104 (the sample preparation room for IRMS confirmation) are both within the secured area of the laboratory.  (Tr. at 414-16).
79. In his briefs, Respondent pointed out two incidences where non-forensic corrections were made in bottle chain of custody documents (USADA0007 and 0079).  Dr. Ayotte testified that neither of these incidences of non-forensic corrections caused Respondent’s Adverse Analytical Finding.  (Tr. at 831-832).  Her conclusion is evident from the face of the documents.

80. The requirement for laboratory bottle chain of custody serves two purposes.  First, to ensure that there has been no mix-up between samples and that results reported for a particular athlete are in fact the results of his or her sample.  Second, to demonstrate that open sample bottles are not left unattended in uncontrolled portions of the laboratory where tampering by unauthorized persons could be possible.  Neither potential concern is a reality in this case.  Respondent’s counsel acknowledged in closing that the sample at issue in this case is Respondent’s.  (Tr. at 2054:11-13).  Ms. Mongongu of LNDD testified that the entire technical portion of the laboratory where sample bottles are stored and IRMS sample preparation and analysis takes place is a locked, controlled zone where access is monitored and records are maintained of access by visitors who are not permitted without escort.  (Tr. at 414-16).  Furthermore, Ms.  Mongongu testified that she had possession of the A Sample IRMS analysis aliquots during the preparation and analysis.  (Tr. at 468-472).  Similarly, Ms.  Frelat gave testimony regarding her custody of the B Sample and aliquots, and described the documentation as showing that “there are entries which pertain to who received the bottle, at what time, and when and where.”  (Tr. at 684-88; 748-50).  
E. Manual Integration of the Chromatograms Produced by OS2 Software.

81. Respondent’s Stage 17 Samples were analyzed by LNDD on a IsoPrime instrument with OS2 software.  The delta values reported for testosterone metabolites (e.g., 5alpha diol) and endogenous reference compounds (e.g., pdiol) are derived from chromatograms which reflect the peaks area of these various compounds.  Because delta values reported for individual compounds are based on the peak areas for those compounds reflected on the IRMS chromatograms, the reported delta values are influenced by where the baseline dividing peak from background is established and where individual peaks are determined to have started and stopped.  On each chromatogram, the OS2 software automatically establishes a baseline and the start-stop points of each peak.  Dr. Brenna testified that the baseline and peak start-stops established automatically by the OS2 software must also be manually integrated as a quality control step to assure that the baseline and peak start-stops have been properly identified.  Respondent characterizes the manual integration performed by Ms. Mongongu and Ms. Frelat during data analysis as a “human, subjective interpretation” of peak start-stops and background noise; however, it was made clear in the testimony of Dr. Brenna (Tr. at 272-75), Ms. Mongongu (Tr. at 453-47), and Ms. Frelat (Tr. at 676-77) that LNDD’s manual integration process follows a formula that is spelled out in LNDD’s standard operating procedure.  (Ex. 112 at LNDD0603-0609).

82. After the baseline has been accurately established and the peak start-stops have been assigned based on inspection of the beginning of the rise of the peak in the 45/44 ratio plot, the analyst clicks on the “calculate” prompt on the instrument and the instrument software integrates the peaks and obtains the peak area after automatically subtracting background based on the peak start-stops points assigned by the analyst.
  

83. Respondent points to no provision in the ISL which in any way precludes LNDD’s manual integration of the chromatograms produced by the OS2 software.  Dr. Brenna’s testimony that manual integration is both appropriate and necessary as a quality control measure to ensure reliable results was supported by Dr. Ayotte (Tr. at 802-803), Dr. Catlin (Tr. at 1236), Dr. Buisson (Tr. at 931-32), and Ms.  Mongongu (Tr. at 453-57).

84. Respondent argues that Article 5.4.4.4 of the ISL required LNDD to document any respect in which manual integration changed the background or peak start-stops established automatically by the OS2 software.  However, Respondent presented no testimony to substantively rebut Dr. Ayotte’s interpretation that this section of the ISL does not apply.  Respondent’s witness Dr. Davis notes that this could have been accomplished by the LNDD technicians clicking on the “save parameters” prompt the first time manual integration was performed on a chromatogram.  If manual integration was performed by LNDD multiple times of the same chromatogram, as Dr. Davis observed to be the case, the OS2 software would only save a single change.  (Tr. at 1838).

85. As explained by Dr. Ayotte, who was a member of WADA Laboratory Committee that was involved with the review and approval of the ISL, ISL Articles 5.4.4.4.1.3 and 5.4.4.4.1.4 do not require any such documentation.  (Tr. at 803-805).  

86. Article 5.4.4.4.1.4, which is a subsection of Article 5.4.4.4.1, entitled “Data and Computer Security” provides:

5.4.4.4.1.4
All data entry, recording of reporting processes and all changes to reported data shall be recorded with an audit trail. This shall include the date and time, the information that was changed, and the individual performing the task.
As Dr. Ayotte testified, this provision applies to changes to reported data, whether in paper or electronic format.  Ms. Mongongu gave similar testimony.  (Tr. at 527-28).  When the technicians at LNDD or Montreal manually integrate the baselines and peak start-stops on chromatograms, that is part of the data analysis process; it is not a change to already reported data, which requires a forensic correction audit trail.  While it might have been possible for the LNDD analysts to have electronically preserved some part of the baselines and peak start-stops established by manual integration, they would not have had any reason to be believe that such a preservation effort would serve any useful function in the future.  As far as the Panel and the parties are aware, this is the first time that electronic data files have ever been produced in a doping case.  All electronic data files (not only those which would show manual integration of chromatograms) are far beyond the scope of the documentation that a laboratory is required to produce under WADA TD2003LDOC regarding Laboratory Documentation Packages.  Indeed, Respondent’s witness Dr. Goldberger testified that in the more than 125 court cases in which he has testified, electronic data files had never been requested.  (Tr. at 1037, 1094).  

87. On the issue of manual integration, the Panel takes particular note of the conclusion reached by the Panel’s independent expert, Dr. Botrè.  In his report following the processing of the electronic data files, Dr. Botrè stated:

7.11
The above data also show that the manual subtraction of the background performed by the Paris laboratory, apart from being covered by their internal Standard Operating Procedures, appears to be a scientifically sound process, aimed to improve the quality of the signal and, therefore, the reliability of the obtained results, and not to alter the results of the analysis.  This is particularly evident if one considers that the totally automatic reprocessing of the EDFs on the old instrument gave rise to a value of the difference between pregnanediol and 5-alpha-diol greater than 3 also for the negative reference urine, both on the occasion of the “A” and the “B” sample analysis.  
7.12
Apart from the numeric data, the appropriateness of the manual subtraction of the background is also evident from the comparison, between the manual and the automatic subtraction of the background, of the baseline of the upper part of the plots reported on the graphical page of the relevant, reprocessed outputs.

7.13
Finally, there was nothing in the data obtained by reprocessing the EDFs related to the stability and to the linearity runs that could invalid[ate] the results of the analysis of the “A” and the “B” sample.

Ex. 114.  
88. The conclusions reached by Dr. Botrè are uncontested.  Both parties had the opportunity to question the Panel’s independent expert; however, neither party elected to do so.  

89. Indeed, even Respondent’s expert Dr. Davis testified that he believed “they [Ms. Mongongu and Ms. Frelat] were genuinely just looking at the baseline and trying to fit – trying to fit the lines and fit the piece the best way they could.”  (Tr. at 1843).

90. The Panel finds that LNDD’s manual integration of the chromatograms in Respondent’s Stage 17 Sample was consistent with both the ISL and good laboratory practice.  

F. Respondent’s Stage 17 Chromatograms.
91. Respondent alleges that LNDD’s chromatography in general shows co-eluting peaks, disappearing peaks, high-sloping baselines and other matrix interferences in violation of Articles 5.4.4.2.1 (Non-Threshold Substances) and 5.4.4.2.2 (Threshold Substances) of the ISL.  

92. First, the Panel notes that, in examining witnesses, Respondent’s counsel frequently switched back and forth between Stage 17 chromatograms, chromatograms from Respondent’s other seven Tour samples, LNDD chromatograms of samples from other athletes, and examples of good chromatograms and bad chromatograms from other laboratories.  The Panel will focus here on Respondent’s Stage 17 chromatograms.  

93. Second, if either of Articles 5.4.4.2.1 (Non-Threshold Substances) or 5.4.4.2.2 (Threshold Substance) were to be applicable, it would be 5.4.4.2.1 because the detection of exogenous testosterone using IRMS is not a Threshold Substance identified on either the WADA Prohibited List (Ex. 5) or TD2004MRPL (Ex. 10), which identify specific threshold substances.  

94. Article 5.4.4.2.1 is found in a subsection 5.4.4.2 of the ISL entitled “Validation of Methods,” which in turn is a subsection of Article 5.4.4 “Test Methods and Method Validation.”  The Articles in these sections address the general ability of the Laboratory’s methods to produce chromatograms that avoid matrix interference.  These Articles are not addressing matrix interference in any specific chromatograms.  As is noted in the testimony of Dr. Ayotte, a laboratory does not violate Article 5.4.4.2.1 of the ISL anytime it produces a chromatogram that contains matrix interference.  (Tr. at 814-15).  Accordingly, the Panel finds that, even if matrix interference occurred in the Stage 17 chromatograms, it would not amount to a violation of Article 5.4.4.2.2. of the ISL.  
95. Moreover, based on the evidence presented during the hearing, the Panel does not find any problem with the reliability of the specific chromatograms on which LNDD’s Adverse Analytical Findings was based.  Respondent’s Stage 17 Sample was analyzed in three separate fractions.  Fraction 1 included testosterone metabolites androsterone and etiocholanolone.  Fraction 2 included the endogenous reference compound 11ketoetiocholanolone.  Fraction 3 included the testosterone metabolites 5beta diol, 5alpha diol, and the endogenous reference compound pdiol.  Fraction 3 is critical to this case because LNDD’s Adverse Analytical Finding was based on the difference in 13C/12C composition between the 5alpha diol metabolite and the pdiol endogenous reference compound.

96. There was a difference of opinion between the parties’ experts regarding the quality of Respondent’s Stage 17 chromatograms.  Respondent’s expert Dr. Meier-Augenstein characterized Respondent’s Stage 17 chromatograms as “not very good” (Tr. at 1389) and pointed to what in his opinion were specific problems with sloping baselines in both the A and B Samples and a small “disappearing” peak between the 5beta diol and 5alpha diol peaks in the B Sample Fraction 3 chromatogram.  USADA’s experts, on the other hand, testified that they saw no problems that would have effect the reliability of Respondent’s Stage 17 chromatograms.  Dr. Ayotte testified that these chromatograms were very good quality, that the peaks were well resolved and showed no co-elution, that the baseline was good and that the peaks of interest were located in a region of the chromatogram where the instrument provides accurate readings.  (Tr. at 813).  Dr. Schänzer testified that the chromatograms were good and that he saw no problems with sloping baselines or peak shape or co-eluting peak interferences that would cause problems with the data.  (Tr. at 1173-1178).  Dr. Catlin expressed his opinion that the delta/delta values obtained by the Paris Laboratory for Respondent’s Stage 17 Samples were reliable and that the quality of LNDD’s work was excellent.  (Tr. at 1193, 1232).  Dr. Shackleton also testified that Respondent’s Stage 17 A and B chromatograms looked good.  (Tr. at 198-207).

97. Dr. Brenna testified, at length, concerning the quality of the Respondent’s Stage 17 chromatograms.  Contrary to the opinion of Dr. Meier-Augenstein, Dr. Brenna testified that Respondent’s Stage 17 Sample showed good resolution, good peak separation, and that he didn’t see any baseline slopes associated with the calculations that would cause them to be in error.  (Tr. at 257-270).

98. In particular, Dr. Brenna disagreed with Dr. Meier-Augenstein’s argument that the small peak appearing between the 5beta and 5alpha peaks in the Sample B Fraction 3 GC/MS chromatogram was included in the 5alpha peak in the IRMS chromatogram.  Dr. Brenna testified that he was able to separately identify that small peak in the IRMS ratio trace.  Dr. Brenna also concluded that the small peak would not have affected the 5alpha result at all and that any influence it may have had on the 5beta result would have been within experimental error.  (Tr. at 263-266).

99. Dr. Brenna also challenged Dr. Meier-Augenstein’s assumption that, if there was overlap between the minor peak and the 5alpha peak,  the first peak (minor peak) would become more enriched (higher 13C/12C delta value) and the second peak (5alpha) would become more depleted (a lower 13C/12C delta value).  Based on his own research reflected in a paper cited by Dr. Meier-Augenstein, Dr. Brenna testified that Dr. Meier-Augenstein had the principle of overlapping peaks backwards.  Dr. Brenna’s research showed that if there had been an overlap between the minor peak and the 5alpha peak, the effect would have been to make the 5alpha peak 13C/12C enriched, meaning a less negative delta value.  (Tr. at 1947-1948).  This would have caused the difference between the 5alpha diol and pdiol to be smaller, not greater.  
100. The Panel notes that Respondent’s expert Dr. Davis testified concerning a number of chromatograms from Respondent’s other 7 Tours samples that were produced by a different LNDD instrument using MassLynx software instead of OS2 software.  However, Dr. Davis was not asked to express an opinion on the quality of any of Respondent’s Stage 17 Sample chromatograms.
101. In assessing the conflicting testimony between Dr. Meier-Augenstein, on the one hand, and Dr. Brenna, Dr. Ayotte, Dr. Schänzer, Dr. Catlin and Dr. Shackleton, on the other, the Panel is satisfied that Respondent’s Stage 17 chromatograms provided a reliable basis for LNDD’s Adverse Analytical Finding. 

G. The 5-Alpha-Androstanol Internal Standard. 
102. During cross examination of Dr. Brenna, Respondent raised the issue for the first time that four of the twelve delta values measured for 5-alpha-androstanol, when that compound was used as an internal standard, differed from the certified reference value for 5-alpha-androstanol by more than +0.5 delta units.

103. During IRMS analysis, LNDD added 5-alpha-androstanol as an internal standard to each of the three fractions of Respondent’s urine and each of the three fractions of blank urine for both the A and B Samples.  Ms. Mongongu testified that the purpose of this internal standard was to establish a relative retention time to assist in peak identification.  The purpose of the internal standard was not to serve as a control for peak delta value measurement.  (Tr. at 433-35).  

104. First, as Ms. Mongongu made clear in her testimony, LNDD uses the 5-alpha-androstanol internal standard not as a delta value measurement control but rather as a peak identification control.  Although the instrument software automatically calculates the delta value of this internal standard, LNDD does not use that delta value for any purpose.  (Tr. at 433-34).  Dr. Ayotte testified that her laboratory also uses 5-alpha-androstanol as an internal standard for purposes of peak identification and that in her laboratory this 5-alpha-androstanol standard is not used for any delta value measurement purpose.  (Tr. at 811).  Respondent has not pointed to any provision in the ISL that requires LNDD to use the 5-alpha-androstanol internal standard for delta value measurement purposes.

105. When the +0.5 delta unit measurement of uncertainty is used by LNDD as an acceptance criteria for a control, only three out of the four compounds in the control must fall within +0.5 delta units.  (See LNDD0460).  That acceptance criterion does not apply to the single compound, 5-alpha-androstanol, when used as an internal standard.  

106. Ms. Mongongu explained that the variation in 5-alpha-androstanol values was the result of matrix interference that can be found at the beginning of a chromatogram.  (Tr. at 434-35).  Dr. Schänzer confirmed that the variation in delta values for 5-alpha-androstanol may be bigger than the variation for other steroids because 5-alpha-androstanol is eluted very early in the chromatogram.  (Tr. at 1131).  Dr. Schänzer further explained that in his laboratory, he would expect similar variations to those found in the LNDD data.  (Tr. at 1131).  Dr. Schänzer also explained that the variations in the measured delta values for the 5-alpha-androstanol internal standard would not cause him to disregard the other delta values determined for Respondent’s sample.  (Tr. at 1185).

107. Ms. Mongongu stated unequivocally that the variation in value had no effect whatsoever on the validity or reliability of the IRMS conclusion.  (Tr. at 435).

108. The Panel is satisfied that the difference in delta values for the 5-alpha-androstanol internal standard does not cast doubt on the reliability of Respondent’s Stage 17 results.  The Panel notes that the maximum variation between any of the measurements for the 5-alpha-androstanol internal standard and the established referenced value is 1.18 delta units, which is far less than the 3 delta unit change that would be necessary to make Respondent’s sample negative under the WADA criteria.
H. Time Gaps in the Sequence of Analyses of Respondent’s A and B Samples. 

109. LNDD followed the following sequence in analyzing Respondent’s Stage 17 A and B Samples:  
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110. Respondent points out that in analyzing his B Sample, the first seven steps on the IRMS were performed consecutively without interruption but that there was delay of approximately 4 hours 30 minutes between injection of the first mix cal acetate control and the beginning of the injection of the three fractions containing blank urines and Respondent’s sample.  As Ms. Frelat testified, this delay was caused by the fact that preparation of Respondent’s sample for analysis had not yet been completed when the first mix cal acetate was finished.  Injection of the three fractions of the athlete’s sample, the blank urines and the second mix cal acetate control were performed consecutively as soon as Respondent’s sample was ready for analysis (Tr. at 719-21).  Ms. Frelat’s testimony is confirmed by LNDD’s documentation package.  Exhibit 25, USADA0360-0361 shows that at step seven the mix cal acetate data was obtained at 12:24.  USADA0302 shows that the preparation of Respondent’s sample for analysis was completed at 17h00 (5:00 p.m.).  The sequence of the injection for Respondent’s sample and the blank urine resumed almost immediately thereafter (USADA0346).  Respondent’s expert (Dr. deBoer) was present at LNDD for the B Sample analysis.  He raised no objection to this delay.  Indeed Dr. deBoer signed a statement saying that “the impression of the expert regarding the analytical performance of the B-Sample analysis was that the LNDD worked in a transparent and professional way and in according to transparent and professional procedures.”  (Ex. 25, USADA0386).  

111. Respondent also pointed out during the hearing that in the A Sample analysis, steps 1 through 13 were run in order without delay or interruption but that there was delay of 5 hours and 40 minutes before the second mix cal acetate control was run as the last step in the injection sequence.

112. Although Ms. Mongongu, the LNDD scientist who performed the A Sample analysis, had no immediate explanation for this delay, the Panel does not find that the delay casts doubt on the reliability of LNDD’s analytical results.  The ISL does not require laboratories to run controls and samples in any particular sequence or without delay.  Similarly, Respondent has not pointed to any requirement in LNDD’s standard operating procedures that requires that each step in the injection sequence be performed consecutively or without delay.  The results of the second mix cal acetate control were consistent with the results of the first mix cal acetate control and also the results of mix cal acetate controls from the same batch which had been analyzed previously.  (Ex. 38, Fig. 6).

113. Dr. Ayotte confirmed that there is no requirement in the ISL that samples be run through automatically or consecutively and she testified that she saw no problem with delaying part of the injection sequence until preparation of an athlete’s sample was complete.  (Tr. at 808-09).  With respect to Respondent’s A Sample, Dr. Ayotte also testified that, even if the reason for a delay had been because LNDD had rerun the second mix cal acetate control, the delay would not be something that would concern her.  (Tr. at 860, 865).  

114. Finally, Respondent failed to provide the Panel with any evidence that this delay in any way negatively impacted the reliability of the analysis.  Instead, Respondent has simply speculated that the delay raises the possibility that LNDD is covering up something that occurred in the interim that would undermine the reported results.  
115. This claim of a hypothetical possibility of improper acts fails for many reasons, including the fact that Respondent failed to provide any credible evidence of motive for any employee of LNDD to engage in improper acts and did not provide any evidence that anything improper occurred in the interim.
116. The Panel is satisfied that the delays in the injection sequence of Respondent’s Stage 17 Sample did not affect the reliability of the reported results.  

I. Retention Times and Relative Retention Times.

117. Dr. Meier-Augenstein testified that he was unable to identify the relevant peaks in the IRMS chromatograms because of the differences in retention times and relative retention times between that part of the IRMS analysis performed on the GC/MS instrument and that part of the IRMS analysis performed on the GC/IRMS instrument.  Dr. Meier-Augenstein also pointed to WADA Technical Document TD2003IDCR which states “for capillary gas chromatography, the retention time (RT) of the analyte shall not differ by more than (1) percent or +0.2 minutes (whichever is smaller) from that of the same substance in a spiked urine sample, Reference Collection sample or Reference Material analyzed contemporaneously.”  (Ex. 12).  Dr. Meier-Augenstein calculated differences in retention times of up to 7.2% (Tr. at 1415) by comparing retention times between the GC/MS instrument and the GC/IRMS instrument.

118. Dr. Meier-Augenstein’s argument fails first because there is nothing in TD2003IDCR which indicates that the 1% criteria applies to a retention time comparison between two separate instruments.  Dr. Brenna testified that one would not expect the retention times for a GC/MS instrument to correspond with the retention times for a GC/IRMS instrument.  (Tr. at 1937).

119. There is no dispute that the retention times measured on the GC/MS and GC/IRMS instruments independently are well within the TD2003IDCR 1% criteria.  Dr. Brenna demonstrated, using the internal standard 5-alpha-androstanol as an example, that the variation in retention times for 5-alpha-androstanol over all of the times that standard was used in analyzing Respondent’s A Sample was only +0.07%.  Dr. Brenna calculated that the comparable figure for Respondent’s B Sample analysis was only +0.13%.  (Ex. 134).  Thus, the retention times measured by the IRMS instrument were well within the 1% criteria in TD2003IDCR.  (Tr. at 1932-33).

120. Dr. Meier-Augenstein conceded that the retention times measured for the GC/MS instrument and the GC IRMS instrument separately were within the 1% criteria.  Dr. Meier-Augenstein also conceded that one would not use retention time to compare two different instruments, rather he clamed that you would use relative retention times.  (Tr. at 1506).  Significantly, TD2003IDCR addresses only “retention times” not “relative retention times.”  Further, Dr. Meier-Augenstein’s argument that one would expect the relative retention times under two instruments to be the same was effectively rebutted by Dr. Brenna.  (Tr. at 1938).

121. Dr. Brenna explained in some detail that he had no difficulty identifying the metabolite and endogenous reference compound peaks in the GC/IRMS chromatograms because he was able to compare the pattern of peak heights and retention times in the GC/IRMS chromatograms, anchored by the internal standard with a known retention time, with the pattern of peak heights and retention times in the GC/MS chromatograms.  (Tr. at 1971-72).

122. It is undisputed that the GC/MS portion of the IRMS analysis process properly identified the compounds in Fraction 3 of Respondent’s urine.  That Fraction 3 GC/MS chromatogram shows three large peaks which came out at retention times after the internal standard (SI) 5 alpha androstanol AC.  Those three peaks in order of retention time were:  5beta diol; 5alpha diol and pdiol.  The GC/MS analysis not only established the three peaks as 5alpha androstanol, 5beta diol and 5alpha diol, it also established that the peaks were pure and that there was no other compound under those peaks.
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Ex. 24, USADA0171.

Put another way, we know from the GC/MS analysis that Respondent’s Fraction 3 urine contained 5beta diol, 5alpha diol and pdiol in quantities greater than any other compound that emerged from the column after the internal standard and we also know the retention time order of those three compounds. 

123. When the same Fraction 3 vial of Respondent’s urine was transferred and analyzed on the GC/IRMS instrument, the chromatograms look like this:
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Ex. 24, USADA0173.
As Dr. Brenna testified, he knew that the peak with the delta value of -30.05 was the 5alpha androstanol internal standard.  He knew that because the retention time of 867.4 seconds was the same retention time as was reported for 5alpha androstanol both times that compound was analyzed as one of the four compounds in the mix cal acetate control (Retention time of 866.6 seconds both times).  Similarly, he knew that the peak with the delta value of -28.82 was 5beta diol.  He knew that because the retention time of 1304.7 seconds was the same as the retention time for 5beta diol both times that compound was analyzed as one of the four compounds in the mix cal acetate (Retention times of 1302.2 seconds and 1301.0 seconds).  (The differences between 1304.7, 1302.2 and 1301.0 seconds are only a fraction of the 1% difference permitted by TD2003IDCR.)
124. With the identity of both the internal standard peak and 5beta diol peak in the GC/IRMS chromatogram established, and knowing from the GC/MS chromatogram that the next two large peaks in Fraction 3 of the sample are, in order of retention time, 5alpha diol and pdiol, the conclusion is inescapable to anyone with experience analyzing steroids that the next large peak in the IRMS chromatogram with a delta value of -32.12 must be 5alpha diol and the last large peak with a delta value of -26.61 must be pdiol.
125. Finally, the Panel notes that the retention times for the 5alpha androstanol internal standard, 5beta diol, 5alpha diol and pdiol in Fraction 3 of Respondent’s sample are also consistent with the retention times of those compounds in the blank urine sample used as a control:  
	“A” GC/C/IRMS Confirmation;
GC/C/IRMS Data
	Mixed Cal Acetate [USADA 0181]
	Mixed Cal Acetate [USADA 0183]
	Blu 1
F3 [USADA 0169-70]
	995474
F3 [USADA 0172-3]

	Compound
	tr  (seconds)
	
	
	

	5a-Androstanol AC (IS)
	866.6
	866.6
	867.4
	867.4

	5beta diol
	1302.2
	1301.0
	1306.2
	1304.7

	5alpha diol
	
	
	1336.6
	1337.2

	pdiol
	
	
	1651.5
	1652.0

	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	


Because the Fraction 3 blank urine was used by LNDD as a control, LNDD analyzed repeated injections of that same blank urine as part of the validation of its method to insure uniformity of results within the range of uncertainty.  (See e.g., Ex. 26, LNDD0311 and Ex. 26, LNDD 0454-0455).  That validation, including both the delta values and retention times for 5alpha diol and pdiol in the repeat injections, would have been reviewed by the ISO inspectors as part of their accreditation of LNDD.
126. None of the experts who had significant experience using IRMS to analyze steroids had any difficulty identifying the relevant metabolites and endogenous reference compounds in Respondent’s IRMS chromatograms (Dr. Ayotte, Dr. Schänzer, Dr. Catlin and Dr. Brenna).  In contrast, Dr. Meier-Augenstein and Dr. Davis acknowledged their lack of experience using IRMS to analyze steroids. 

127. In considering the testimony of the various experts and the exhibits, the Panel concludes that Respondent has not met his burden to demonstrate a departure from TD2003IDCR with respect to retention time criteria. The Panel is also satisfied that LNDD properly identified the relevant metabolite and endogenous reference compound peaks in Respondent’s Stage 17 Sample.

J. Positive Controls

128. Respondent claims that LNDD should have used a spiked urine as a positive control because the mix cal acetate is a “clean” matrix and urine is a “dirty” matrix.

129. Dr. Ayotte described LNDD’s mix cal acetate solution as being a good positive control because the delta values in the mix cal acetate bracket the ranges of values found in normal human urine samples and samples coming from the administration of a prohibited steroid.  (Tr. at 809).  

130. Respondent pointed to no document which requires the use of a positive control in a urine matrix.  The Panel notes that LNDD’s use of the mix cal acetate as a positive control in its IRMS method is something that the ISO auditors would have observed.  The fact that the ISO auditors did not mention the positive control issue as a deficiency when they certified LNDD’s IRMS method confirms Dr. Ayotte’s opinion.  

K. Different Individuals Performing the Analysis of Respondent’s the A and B Specimens.  

131. Article 5.2.4.3.2.2 of the ISL provides that “a different analyst must perform the ‘B’ analytical procedure.  The same individual(s) that performed the ‘A’ analysis may perform instrumental set up and performance checks and verify results.”  The provision of the ISL was discussed in some detail in the CAS decision UCI v. Landaluce.  (Ex. 22).  
132. In various briefs in this case, Respondent has claimed that the same LNDD technicians were involved in analyzing both his Stage 17 A Sample and B Sample.  No evidence was brought forth by Respondent to support this allegation.  
133. In his trial brief, Respondent states “operator C. Mongongu was clearly involved in the A Sample testing.  She also signed in with the B Sample testing, and is noted as having opened the B Sample.  See exhibits USADA0251, 0253.  This issue will be further clarified during examination of LNDD witnesses at the arbitration.”  (Respondent’s Trial Brief p. 94).  Exhibit 0253 shows that Ms. Mongongu was involved with the analysis of Respondent’s A Sample, while Exhibit 0251 shows that Ms. Mongongu was only an observer, along with nine other witnesses, including an expert and two lawyers representing Respondent, at the B Sample opening.  There is no document that indicates that Ms. Mongongu opened the B Sample and Ms. Mongongu testified that she did not open it (Tr. at 446) or prepare the samples.  (Tr. at 418).  Rather, during the hearing, Ms. Frelat testified that the B Sample was opened by Ruddy Barlagne (Tr. at 676).  
134. Respondent previously claimed in his Discovery Brief that Esther Cerpolini, who performed the T/E analysis on Respondent’s A Sample, had calculated specific gravity as part of the T/E ratio analysis of Respondent’s B Sample.  The Panel notes that the IRMS analytical process is independent of the T/E ratio analytical process (see e.g., Susin v. FINA).  As Dr. Ayotte and Dr. Brenna testified, specific gravity is not involved at all in any of the IRMS decisions or results.  (Tr. at 252, 820).  Further, the Panel finds that the mere function of calculating specific gravity from measurements obtained by another technician who actually handled the sample would not constitute “performing the analytical procedure” as that concept is described in ISL Article 5.2.4.3.2.2.
135. The Panel is satisfied that there was no violation of Article 5.2.4.3.2.2 of the ISL.

VIII. RESPONDENT’S ADMISSION TO GREG LEMOND AND RESPONDENT’S CONDUCT WHICH CORROBORATES THAT ADMISSION.  

136. USADA asserts that testimony regarding a call between Respondent and Greg LeMond, as well as subsequent threats against Mr. LeMond made by Respondent and Respondent’s employee, Will Geoghegan, constitute sufficient evidence to conclude that Respondent admitted to Mr. LeMond that he engaged in doping.  Further, USADA contends that the subsequent threats, detailed below, were designed to intimidate Mr. LeMond from discussing the admission made by Respondent during the call. 

137. During the hearing both Greg LeMond and Respondent testified about a conversation between them that took place on August 6, 2006, and lasted for approximately 36 minutes.  Both Mr. LeMond and Respondent agreed that Respondent called Mr. LeMond.  

138. Mr. LeMond testified that during that call he encouraged Respondent that, if he had doped during Stage 17, he should come clean.  Mr. LeMond testified that Mr. Landis’s response to that initial advice was: “What good would it do” (Tr. at 760:8).  Both Respondent and Mr. LeMond testified that Mr. LeMond then shared a deeply personal story with Respondent about the fact that he was sexually abused as a child.  As Mr. LeMond testified: 

In my conversation on August 6th, I – when he asked what good would it do, I told him that what good it – what good it would do, it would help the sport, but more importantly, help you.  I said, I haven’t told this to many people, but I was sexually abused before I got into cycling, and it nearly destroyed me by keeping this secret. And that if you indeed did take testosterone, or you do come out positive, that for your own health, for your own future – I said, you’re 30 years old, but this will come back to haunt you when you are 45, 50.  Because if you have a moral compass and ethics this will destroy you.  

And I shared this with him with the idea that maybe – him seeing what keeping a secret would do.  (Tr. at 767:19 – 768:10).
139. Mr. LeMond testified that in response to the encouragement to admit his doping, Mr. Landis said “if I did, it would destroy a lot of my friends and hurt a lot of people.”  (Tr. at 761:3-4)  

140. Respondent’s testimony regarding the August 6th phone call differs from Mr. LeMond’s only in describing his response to Mr. LeMond’s encouragement to come clean.  On this point Respondent testified:  

I told him that I didn’t do it.  And I told him that it wouldn’t make any sense first of all, for me to admit to something I didn’t do.  But that if I did admit it, and I didn’t do it, I’d like him to tell me what the positive outcome of it would be. 

141. Accordingly, the Panel is left with contradicting testimony and must resolve this conflict all circumstances related to the call, including the subsequent acts of Respondent and his employee.  

142. According to USADA, the subsequent actions of Respondent and his employee and Business Manager, Will Geoghegan, establish that Mr. LeMond’s version of the phone call is the more reliable description of the statements made during the call.  

143. USADA also claims that Respondent’s subsequent action in writing a post on a message board that threatened to reveal Mr. LeMond’s childhood abuse if Mr. LeMond continued to talk about the phone call, is consistent with the claim that Respondent knew he had made statements to Mr. LeMond that would be viewed as an admission.  USADA further maintains that Respondent’s message board threat was an attempt to intimidate Mr. LeMond in order to discourage him from repeating those statements.  

144. Respondent testified that, in approximately December of 2006, he saw press reports where Mr. LeMond described the August 6th call and according to Respondent’s testimony “then adding to it that I had called him and confessed to him on the telephone that I had done it.”  (Tr. at 1318:5-7).  

145. Respondent testified that in response to those press reports he posted a message about Mr. LeMond on an Internet message board that read in part:

However, if he ever opens his mouth again and the word ‘Floyd’ comes out, I will tell you all some things that you will wish you didn’t know, and unfortunately, I will have entered the race to the bottom which is now in progress. (Tr. at 1684:14-19).
146. In his testimony, Respondent confirmed that the threat to reveal something about Greg LeMond related to the fact that he was a victim of sexual abuse and that the posting was “a message to Greg, because I was upset.”  (Tr. at 1684:23-24).  In the same message Respondent also called Mr. LeMond a “pathetic human” and wrote that he was not a “victim.”  (Ex. 118).
147. The second incident of attempted intimidation against Greg LeMond occurred the night before he was to testify when he received a phone call from Respondent’s employee and Business Manager, Will Geoghegan.  The following facts regarding this phone call, as testified to by Mr. LeMond, are undisputed:

· Mr. Geoghegan, using his own cell phone, called Mr. LeMond on Mr. LeMond’s private cell phone number at 6:53 on May 16, 2006.  Mr. LeMond answered the phone on speaker phone and the conversation was heard by his wife who was in the car with him.

· Mr. Geoghegan did not identify himself, but instead claimed to be Mr. LeMond’s “uncle” and said “I’ll be there tomorrow, and we can talk about how we used to hide your weenie.”  
· When Mr. Geoghegan hung up, Mr. LeMond returned the call and it went to Mr. Geoghegan’s voicemail.  When Mr. LeMond persisted in calling the number, Will Geoghegan answered and pretended to be someone named “Bill” and claimed not to know Respondent. 
· Mr. LeMond understood the call to be an effort to intimidate him into not testifying by using the threat that his history of sexual abuse would be exposed if he testified.  
· Mr. LeMond filed a police report regarding this effort at witness intimidation.
· Mr. LeMond conducted his own investigation to determine who owned the cell number that had placed the call and was able to determine that it was Will Geoghegan and that Mr. Geoghegan was associated with Mr. Landis. 
(See generally Tr. at 770-71).
· Respondent was present when Mr. Geoghegan made the phone call.
 
· Respondent had previously provided Mr. Geoghegan with Mr. LeMond’s cell phone number.
· Respondent testified that he told Mr. Geoghegan that Mr. LeMond had been sexually abused because Mr. Geoghegan was a member of Respondent’s defense team.
· Respondent knew immediately that Mr. Geoghegan’s call to Mr. LeMond was a problem.
· Respondent did not fire Mr. Geoghegan until after Respondent learned through Mr. LeMond’s testimony that Mr. LeMond had been able to trace the phone call back to Mr. Geoghegan.

(See generally Tr. at 1686-96 and 1700-11).
148. According to USADA, this mean-spirited act perpetrated by Respondent’s employee in an effort to intimidate Mr. LeMond is entirely consistent with Respondent’s own threat on the message board to reveal Mr. LeMond’s history of sexual abuse.  Further, these two attempts to intimidate Mr. LeMond are reliable corroborating evidence that Respondent was afraid Mr. LeMond would testify regarding Respondent’s statement to Mr. LeMond that if he did come clean it “would destroy a lot of my friends and hurt a lot of people.”  

149. Based on the foregoing, the Panel finds that the conflicting testimony regarding the statements made by Respondent during the August 6, 2006, phone call should be resolved in favor of Mr. LeMond’s description of the call.  The Panel is convinced that Respondent’s own threat against Mr. LeMond and the despicable actions of Mr. Geoghegan are sufficient to establish that Respondent made a statement during the phone call with Mr. LeMond that he did not want to be publicly disclosed.  Accordingly, the Panel finds that Respondent’s credibility has been compromised and that his denial regarding the statement made to Mr. LeMond is not credible.
150. The remaining question before the Panel is whether Respondent’s response to Mr. LeMond that coming clean regarding the presence of exogenous testosterone in his Stage 17 Sample “would destroy a lot of my friends and hurt a lot of people” is sufficient to constitute an admission of doping.  

151. Article 17 of the UCI Rules adopts Article 3.2 of the World Code, which establishes that “[f]acts related to anti-doping rule violations may be established by any reliable means, including admissions.”  

152. The ability to find that an athlete has committed a doping violation based solely on an admission has also been recognized in previous CAS cases.  For example, in USADA v. Montgomery; CAS 2004/O/645 the panel considered an alleged admission in the context of a case against an athlete where, unlike this case, there was not an analytical positive: 

The Panel has wrestled with the question whether, in the circumstances, it should address in this Award each element of USADA’s case against Mr. Montgomery, including each of what USADA calls its “7 types of evidence” of doping by the Athlete.  On balance, the Panel has determined not to do so for the simple reason that it is unnecessary.  This is because the Panel is unanimously of the view that Mr. Montgomery in fact admitted his use of prohibited substances to Ms. White, as discussed in more detail below, on which basis alone the Panel can and does find him guilty of a doping offence. (Paragraph 45).
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153. Here, the Panel finds that the only logical implication of Respondent’s statement that coming clean regarding the presence of exogenous testosterone in his Stage 17 Sample “would destroy a lot of my friends and hurt a lot of people” is that Respondent was admitting to Mr. LeMond he had in fact, doped, and that if he told the truth regarding his doping it would negatively impact his friends and hurt other people.  

154. The Panel finds that this evidence is independently sufficient to establish a doping violation in this case.  Moreover, unlike the facts of Montgomery, here the evidence regarding the athlete’s admission is strengthened because of it is directly corroborated by adverse analytical results indicating that Respondent did indeed engage in doping during the Tour.  Accordingly, the Panel finds that the evidence regarding Respondent’s admission is both sufficient to support a doping violation independently and when combined with the Adverse Analytical Finding leaves no room for doubt that Respondent engaged in doping. 
IX. OTHER EVIDENCE THAT CORROBORATES LNDD’S STAGE 17 ADVERSE ANALYTICAL FINDING.

155. Although the Panel is comfortably satisfied that Respondent’s Stage 17 Adverse Analytical Finding reported by LNDD can stand on its own as a violation of Article 15.1 of UCI Rules, this Adverse Analytical Finding was further corroborated by additional evidence presented during the hearing.  This additional corroborative evidence included the results from reprocessing the Stage 17 electronic data files; the results of the IRMS analysis conducted on the B specimens of Respondent’s other 7 Tour samples and Respondent’s T/E longitudinal profile.  
156. It is clear from CAS precedent that corroborating evidence need not meet all technical requirements or be sufficiently strong to stand on its own as an Adverse Analytical Finding.  For example, in both Susin v. FINA and WADA v. Wium (Exs. 14 and 16, respectively) CAS panels found that even though the T/E ratio analysis could not be the basis of an Adverse Analytical Finding because the B Sample T/E results may have been affected by bacterial degradation, the T/E results still provided corroborating evidence supporting the IRMS results (see Susin at ¶¶ 162-63, Wium at ¶ 6.11).
B. Electronic Data File Reprocessing.

157. Throughout the discovery in this case, Respondent insisted that reliable results could only be obtained if LNDD’s electronic data files were reprocessed using the newer MassLynx software.  The Panel, through its expert Dr. Botrè, arranged for the electronic data files for Respondent’s Stage 17 Sample to be reprocessed at LNDD under the supervision of Dr. Botrè and in the presence of the expert representatives of both parties.  During the reprocessing of the electronic data files, which took place on May 4 and May 5, 2007, Dr. Botrè made clear to Respondent’s expert Dr. Davis that Dr. Botrè was willing to reprocess the data in whatever way Dr. Davis desired.  The electronic data files were reprocessed using the original method employed by LNDD, which involved manual integration by the LNDD technicians of the baselines and peak start-stops produced by the OS2 software’s automatic integration feature.  At Dr. Davis’s request, the electronic data files were also reprocessed in three additional ways:  using the OS2 automatic integration feature with no manual integration; with the OS2 automatic baseline subtraction feature turned off and no manual integration; and using the newer MassLynx software.  The results of these four approaches to reprocessing the electronic data files are summarized  as follows:
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158. No matter how the electronic data files for Respondent’s Stage 17 Sample were reprocessed, the difference between the 5alpha diol metabolite and the pdiol endogenous reference compound always met the WADA positivity criteria for an Adverse Analytical Finding.  This conclusion is corroborated by Dr. Botrè’s report.  (Ex. 114 at §§ 7.11-7.13).
159. Importantly, Respondent’s Stage 17 Sample was clearly positive when reanalyzed using the MassLynx software, which Respondent had claimed is more reliable when he was seeking access to the electronic data files during discovery.  Further testimony at the hearing established that the reprocessing using the MassLynx software did not involve any manual integration.
  

160. Based on the testimony of Dr. Brenna, the Panel is not inclined to attribute any relevance in the results obtained from either the OS2 automatic integration with no manual background integration or the OS2 automatic background subtraction turned off with no manual integration.  Each of these processes were requested by Respondent but, as established through testimony at the hearing, and in Dr. Botrè’s report, those processes are flawed methodologies.  (See, e.g., Dr. Brenna:  Tr. at 285-26).  Accordingly, one would expect differences between the results produced by those methods and the original LNDD method, with LNDD’s original results being the more accurate reflection of the samples 13C/12C composition.  

161. Respondent attempts to mitigate the corroborating effect of the reprocessing results by arguing that, because the results obtained by the LNDD technicians in reprocessing the electronic data files were not identical to the original results, the Panel should consider LNDD’s method unreliable.  The Panel is not persuaded by this argument.  Rather, the Panel notes that, with two exceptions when the delta values from the original analysis are compared to the manual reprocessing values, the results are at or within LNDD’s stated measure of uncertainty of +0.8 delta/delta units.  The exceptions can be explained by a single difference.  The delta value differences for andro-11keto and etio-11keto were considerably smaller in reprocessing than they were in the original analysis.  This occurred because the value reported for 11-keto in Fraction 2 of the B Sample reprocessing was considerably lower than the 11-keto value reported originally.  This lower value for 11-keto caused the delta differences for both andro-11-keto and etio-11-keto to be much smaller.  (This was explained in the testimony of Dr. Ayotte, Tr. at 897-900).  This discrepancy does not involve Fraction 3 of Respondent’s Sample which contained the metabolite (5alpha diol) and endogenous reference compound (pdiol) upon which LNDD’s Adverse Analytical Finding was based.  The original B Sample Fraction 2 manual integration results are consistent with MassLynx and the other two reprocessing approaches; it is only the manually reprocessed B Sample Fraction 2 results that are out of line.  
162. The Panel finds that the additional information obtained from the reprocessing of the electronic data files is reliable and entirely consistent with the conclusion that Respondent was doping during Stage 17 of the Tour.
C. Further Analysis of Respondent’s Seven Other Tour Samples

163. In addition to the Stage 17 Sample, seven other urine samples were collected from Respondent during the Tour.  No IRMS Analysis was performed on these samples during the original testing because none of them had a T/E ratio greater than 4:1, which under the WADA Prohibited List would have triggered IRMS analysis.

164. With the exception of sample collected on July 14, 2006, there was not enough urine remaining in any of Respondent’s other Tour A Samples to conduct IRMS analysis on those samples.  However, all seven sealed B Samples were available.

165. As described above, in December 2006, USADA proposed to conduct IRMS analysis on Respondent’s other seven Tour B Samples.  Respondent engaged in a vigorous campaign of opposition to that proposal and the matter was ultimately briefed and argued before the Panel.  The Panel’s Order of March 17, 2007, provided that USADA could go forward with the further IRMS analysis testing.

166. The IRMS analysis of Respondent’s other seven Tour samples took place at LNDD from April 16, 2007, to April 23, 2007.  Representatives of both Respondent and USADA were present.  Respondent subsequently raised a complaint alleging that his representatives were denied information and access during the further analysis process.  That complaint was rejected by the Panel in the Order of May 15, 2007.

167. During the further analysis process, Respondent’s samples were “blinded” by the addition of three samples from the UCLA Laboratory, which were provided by USADA’s observer Dr. Rodrigo Aguilera and the masking of all ten sample bottles.  During the further analysis, only the parties’ representatives knew whether a particular sample was from Respondent or had been provided by Dr. Aguilera.  See, e.g., Tr. at 463-64 (Testimony of Ms. Mongongu).  
168. The result of the further analysis was that the WADA positivity criteria for the detection of the presence of exogenous testosterone was exceeded in four of Respondent’s other seven Tour samples.  The following table sets forth the results of the further analysis together with the A and B Sample analytical results from Respondent’s July 20, 2006, Stage 17 Sample:
	Collection Date
	Blind Sample #
	UCI Sample #
	5alpha diol-Pdiol
	5beta diol-Pdiol
	Andro-11 Keto
	Etio-11 Keto
	LNDD 
Page #

	7/3/2006
	993865
	995462
	─
	-1.04
	0.22
	-0.95
	LNDD1488

	7/11/2006
	993856
	994203
	-2.91
	-1.05
	-0.25
	-1.29
	LNDD1391

	7/13/2006
	993855
	994277
	-4.62
	-4.09
	-1.99
	-2.32
	LNDD1106

	7/14/2006
	825425
	994276
	-1.01
	-0.70
	-1.70
	-1.04
	LNDD1297

	7/18/2006
	825428
	994075
	-5.06
	-3.56
	-1.22
	-1.89
	LNDD0915

	7/20/2006
	*******
	995474A
	-6.14
	-2.15
	-3.99
	-2.58
	USADA0186

	7/20/2006
	*******
	995474B
	-6.39
	-2.65
	-3.51
	-2.02
	USADA0352

	7/22/2006
	825429
	994080
	-4.80
	-1.67
	-1.36
	-1.68
	LNDD1012

	7/23/2006
	825424
	994171
	-4.96
	-1.45
	-0.64
	-1.43
	LNDD0725

	Aguilera
	825427
	**NL1**
	-1.31
	-0.95
	0.00
	-0.94
	LNDD1582

	Aguilera
	825426
	**NL2**
	-0.77
	-0.88
	0.32
	-0.74
	LNDD0820

	Aguilera
	825423
	**NL3**
	-1.21
	-0.79
	0.09
	-0.91
	LNDD1203


169. The UCI Rules, which are consistent with the World Code, provide that a doping violation for the presence of a prohibited substance (Article 15.1) is only established when a Prohibited Substance is detected in both the athlete’s A and B specimens or the analysis of the B specimen is waived.  However, Article 15.2 of the UCI Rules, also prohibits the “use” of a Prohibited Substance, and Article 17 provides that doping can be proved by any reliable means.  

170. This case was brought by USADA against Respondent in September 2006 based on the Stage 17 Adverse Analytical Finding.  When the results of the further analysis became available in April 2007, USADA did not seek, at that late stage in this proceeding, to amend its charge against Respondent to include separate anti-doping rule violations based on use.  Rather, USADA’s position in this case has been that the further analysis results strongly corroborate the Stage 17 Adverse Analytical Finding.

171. Importantly, Respondent had previously rested his defense in part on the claim that it made no sense to use testosterone during only one stage of the Tour.  While the Panel notes that this defense would not be sufficient in any event to overcome the Stage 17 Adverse Analytical Finding, this defense is completely undermined by the further analysis results which show that Respondent was using exogenous testosterone at numerous times during the Tour.

172. The Panel finds that the further analysis results also corroborate the Stage 17 Adverse Analytical Finding by undermining Respondent’s argument that the Stage 17 Adverse Analytical Finding was the product of laboratory error.  Respondent is now asking the Panel to believe that laboratory error occurred in the analysis of five samples not just one.

173. In an effort to mitigate the strong corroborating effect of the evidence, Respondent challenges the validity of LNDD’s analytical results for his other seven Tour samples.  This challenge is based on claims of poor quality laboratory work and bad chromatograms similar to the claims which Respondent raises with respect to the Stage 17 Sample.  

174. The IRMS analysis of Respondent’s other seven Tour samples was performed by LNDD on a second IsoPrime instrument using MassLynx software.  Thus, Respondent’s challenges to the Stage 17 analytical results based on OS2 software and manual integration are not applicable.  

175. The Panel also notes that the electronic data files from Respondent’s other seven Tour samples were copied by LNDD for Dr. Botrè and were available for review on May 4 and 5, 2007, but Respondent’s expert Dr. Davis did not choose to look at them.
176. During the IRMS analysis of Respondent’s other seven Tour samples, LNDD ran the same controls that were run in connection with the Stage 17 Samples.  The control results were again consistent with established reference values and prior results using the same controls.  These controls established that the IRMS instrument was operating properly.  (Ex. 107, Figures 22-30).  Based on the control results and the testimony of Dr. Brenna, the Panel is satisfied that the IRMS instrument and MassLynx software were operating properly during the further analysis process.  On cross-examination, Dr. Davis acknowledged that his picture of the instrument magnet with the lift handles that looked like “Mickey Mouse ears” was not the magnet for the IsoPrime that analyzed the Stage 17 Sample.  Further, Dr. Davis did not dispute the results of the quality controls run by LNDD with his other seven Tour samples.  There is no evidence reflected in the controls which suggests that there was a problem with the magnet that affected the operation of the second IsoPrime instrument either.  

177. One of the many additional documents that Respondent requested and LNDD produced was a MassLynx log file of the further analysis process.  During the hearing, Respondent raised, for the first time, the issue that on a number of occasions during the further analysis process, the automatic injection sequence for the control samples was interrupted and that control samples were re-injected.  When the control samples were re-injected, any results from the previous injection of these controls were overwritten.  Respondent spent considerable time cross examining the LNDD technicians who performed the further analysis (Ms. Mongongu A Sample, Ms. Frelat B Sample) on the time gaps and repeat injections reflected on the log file.  Ms. Mongongu and Ms. Frelat explained the various log entries.  The Panel is generally satisfied with explanations provided by Ms. Mongongu and Ms. Frelat.  In one instance where the witnesses’ explanation of a log entry from memory was specifically tested (replacement of the instrument liner), the Panel asked if corroborating maintenance records could be produced.  Corroborating documentation faxed from Paris the following day confirmed Ms. Mongongu’s testimony.  (Tr. at 485-86; 565-72, Ex. 115).  The Panel finds that the general explanations provided by Ms.  Frelat are also credible.  (Tr. at 702-21).
178. Had Respondent been more interested getting to the truth, rather than seeking tactical surprise, he would have raised the log issue in his Supplemental Pre-Trial Brief and Ms. Mongongu and Ms. Frelat could have supplemented their memories with other available documents.

179. The Panel takes particular note of the testimony of Dr. Ayotte that it is not unusual and is perfectly acceptable during sample analysis for a laboratory to rerun control samples and overwrite the previous files.  (Tr. at 859-867).  Dr. Ayotte also testified that there is no issue running control samples out of sequence.  (Tr. at 810).
180. Respondent also contests the reliability of the chromatograms upon which the reported results of Respondent’s other seven Tour samples are based.  Again, there was a disagreement between the experts for the parties regarding the same types of chromatogram issues previously discussed in paragraphs 91 through 101 of this opinion.  Based on its assessment of the expert testimony, the Panel is satisfied that the further analysis results are sufficiently reliable to provide corroborating evidence in support of the Stage 17 Adverse Analytical Finding.  

D. Respondent’s T/E Ratio and Longitudinal Steroid Profile

181. USADA submits that the information available to the Panel from a review of Respondent’s T/E ratio and longitudinal steroid profile further corroborates Respondent’s Stage 17 adverse finding.
182. LNDD reported the T/E ratio in Respondent’s Stage 17 A Sample as 11.4 and B Sample as 11.0.

183. As shown by the following figure, Respondent’s Stage 17 T/E ratio was substantially higher than all of the other T/E ratios in his longitudinal steroid profile.
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Ex. 38, Figure 20; see also, Ex. 30.
184. Dr. Catlin testified that the Stage 17 spike in Respondent’s steroid profile was not consistent with normal human physiology, rather it was consistent with doping with testosterone.  (Tr. at 1196-97).

185. In an effort to mitigate the corroborating effect of the T/E ratio evidence, Respondent challenges the reliability of LNDD’s Stage 17 T/E ratio based on the allegations that:  there was evidence of degradation in Respondent’s Stage 17 Sample; there was co-elution in the epitestosterone peaks in the T/E chromatogram; and LNDD did not identify three diagnostic ions as required by WADA TD2003IDCR.

186. Based on the testimony of Dr. Ayotte, the Panel finds that there was no evidence of degradation in Respondent’s Stage 17 Sample (Tr. at 827-29) and that the co-elution in the epitestosterone peak would have only made the reported value of epitestosterone artificially high thus making the T/E ratio artificially low.  (Tr. at 826-27).
187. With respect to Respondent’s remaining claim -- that LNDD did not literally comply with the three diagnostic ion requirement of TD2003IDCR -- there is no dispute.  Both parties acknowledged that LNDD used IRMS and not the T/E ratio method to confirm the Adverse Analytical Finding in Respondent’s Stage 17 Sample.  Accordingly, because LNDD does not use the T/E ratio method to confirm Adverse Analytical Findings, there is no need for LNDD to comply with the three diagnostic ion requirement.  Like the CAS panels in Susin and Wium, this Panel is not basing an Adverse Analytical Finding in this case solely on the athlete’s T/E ratio results.  Instead, consistent with the holdings of Susin and Wium, the Panel accepts the testimony of Dr. Ayotte that the T/E ratio results of Respondent’s sample provide corroborating evidence for the IRMS results on which the Adverse Analytical Finding was based.  (Tr. at 826).
X. RESPONDENT’S UCI BLOOD TESTING RESULTS
188. Both Dr. Catlin (Tr. at 1199) and Respondent’s expert Dr. Amory (Tr. at 1607-08) confirmed that use of endogenous testosterone can increase an athlete’s hemoglobin level.  

189. UCI conducts periodic blood testing on riders before races.  During discovery, USADA requested that Respondent produce any such UCI blood testing results in his possession.  UCI would not produce those results directly to USADA but did produce those results to Respondent.  USADA repeatedly requested these results:
7.
Provide copies of all documents related to blood or urine test, including health tests or anti-doping tests performed by an agency other than USADA, including compilations of results, received from Union Cycliste Internationale (“UCI”), Phonak or any other source, without limitation as to time period regarding results of tests performed on Mr. Landis, including, but not limited to all results of blood and urine tests.  (April 3, 2007, Letter to Maurice Suh at paragraph 7).
190. Respondent answered USADA’s request with the following statement:  “after a reasonable and diligent search, Mr. Landis has no documents responsive to this request.”

191. During cross-examination, Respondent was shown copies of correspondence between UCI and Respondent’s doctor Denise Demir, which make clear that Dr. Demir had received Respondent’s blood testing results from UCI.  (Ex. 125).  Respondent was copied on that correspondence and, therefore, he also received the blood testing results.  Dr. Demir was present and sitting behind Respondent’s counsel table during the first several days of the hearing, but was not present on the day when Respondent was cross examined.  When asked by the Panel if a request had been made to UCI for the documents USADA requested, counsel for Respondent replied that they had not.  (Tr. at 1662:13-35).

192. At the direction of the Panel, Respondent’s UCI blood test results were finally obtained from Dr. Demir and were made an exhibit in this case.  Those results are set forth in GDC 1372 and the relevant excerpts are set forth below: 
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	RACE
	
	
	
	
	

	NAME
	DATE
	HCT
	HB
	RETI
	DECIS.

	PARIS-NICE
	05.03.2005
	46.8
	15.6
	0.98
	APTE

	TOUR DE France – GENERAL
	30.06.2005
	44.5
	14.8
	1.07
	APTE

	TOUR DE France
	18.07.2005
	45.2
	15.3
	0.45
	APTE

	TOUR DE France
	23.07.2005
	42.8
	14.5
	0.74
	APTE

	VUELTA A ESPANA – controle
	25.08.2005
	41.4
	13.9
	0.47
	APTE

	PARIS-NICE
	05.03.2006
	46.7
	15.8
	0.99
	APTE

	TOUR DE France – CONTROL
	29.06.2006
	44.8
	15.5
	1.3
	APTE

	TOUR DE France
	11.07.2006
	48.2
	16.1
	0.92
	APTE


193. USADA acknowledged that, if it had received these blood testing results in a timely fashion, it would have conducted further discovery to see whether the results were obtained from the same instruments and how the instruments were calibrated.  (Tr. at 209).  The fact that Respondent’s blood testing results were not confirmed to be from comparable instruments is not the fault of USADA, rather it is the result of Respondent’s inexcusable denial that he had these results and his failure to provide USADA with these results in a timely fashion.  

194. In reviewing the UCI blood test results over a two-year period, the Panel notes that Respondent’s highest hemoglobin and highest hematocrit levels were found in the sample collected during the 2006 Tour.  The Panel also notes that the hematocrit of 48.2 reported for the sample collected from Respondent on July 11 during the Tour exceeded the level that, according to Respondent, his Phonak team used as a threshold to stop riders from racing.  (Tr. at 1644-45).  The Panel finds that the UCI blood test results, combined with Respondent’s efforts to conceal those results from USADA, create an independent inference that Respondent was using testosterone during the Tour, and that this evidence strongly corroborates the Stage 17 Adverse Analytical Finding.
XI. THE PATTERN OF RESPONDENT’S IRMS AND T/E RESULTS.  
195. In response to this consistent pattern of evidence that corroborates Respondent’s Stage 17 Adverse Analytical Finding, Respondent’s experts claimed that the overall pattern of IRMS and T/E results in his eight Tour Samples is internally inconsistent and must therefore mean that these results are unreliable.  During the hearing, this argument was put forward by Respondent’s experts Dr. Meier-Augenstein and Dr. Amory.

196. On cross-examination, Dr. Meier-Augenstein admitted that he was not an expert in steroids and had never done steroid work.  (Tr. at 1472).  Similarly, Dr. Amory acknowledged that he had no personal experience involving the metabolism and excretion of testosterone in urine except for having served on two USADA anti-doping review board cases.  (Tr. at 1590).  Dr. Meier-Augenstein and Dr. Amory based their opinions solely on their review of the literature which was authored by Dr. Shackleton, Dr. Schänzer, and Dr. Catlin (as co-author with Dr. Aguilera) -- all of whom testified as experts for USADA.  While Dr. Meier-Augenstein and Dr. Amory disagreed with Dr. Shackleton, Dr. Schänzer, and Dr. Catlin on both the specific findings and general conclusions that could be drawn from their studies, the Panel is inclined to give considerably more weight to the testimony of Dr. Shackleton, Dr. Schänzer, and Dr. Catlin based on their clearly superior experience in the field.  

197. Dr. Shackleton (Tr. at 157), Dr. Schänzer (Tr. at 1149-1150), and Dr. Catlin (Tr. at 1193) all testified that the pattern of Respondent’s Tour results was consistent with doping.  As Dr. Catlin put it, it is “my opinion that doping was going on.  I’ve integrated all the information that I have, and it’s just inescapable that that’s what was going on.”  (Tr. at 1193).  

198. The experts called by both sides agreed that testosterone can be administered by injection, orally, gel or patch.  Depending on the method of testosterone administration, exogenous testosterone can take a long time to clear a person’s system (as in the case of injection) or, in the case of testosterone undecanoate pills,  it can clear a person’s system in as little as four to eight hours.  (Dr. Amory testimony, Tr. at 1591, 1599 and Baume Study (Ex. 43 starting at page 804)).  Dr. Amory noted that in Europe where testosterone undecanoate is approved for use, it is actually dosed three times a day because of its short half life.  (Tr. at 1598).  Depending on the dose taken, oral testosterone administered after drug testing on one day of the Tour would easily be cleared from a rider’s urine by the time of drug testing on the afternoon of the next day.  

199. The Panel concludes from the testimony that the administration of testosterone does not necessarily alter an athlete’s T/E ratio.  For example, Dr. Schänzer testified that in two of the 18 subjects in the Cologne study, the administration of testosterone gel produced no clear alteration of the subject’s normal T/E values.  (Tr. at 1180).  Further, only half of the 18 subjects in the Cologne study had their T/E ratio increased above 4:1 after repeated doses of testosterone gel.  (Tr. at 1164).  Dr. Shackleton testified that in his study, in which testosterone was injected, only half of the subjects had their T/E levels rise above the cutoff.  (Tr. at 225).  Joseph Papp, a cyclist who admitted doping with testosterone, testified that while he was administering his own micro doses of testosterone gel, he never failed a drug test.  (Tr. at 984).  In response to a question from Arbitrator Campbell, Dr. Catlin testified that the exogenous administration of testosterone would not have the effect of suppressing an individual’s endogenous steroid profile like the effect produced by the designer steroids, norbolethone and THG.  Dr. Catlin explained this was the reason that athletes like to use testosterone—“because you can get away with all kinds of things.”  (Tr. at 1254-57).  The Panel also notes that in USADA v. Hartman (Ex. 13) an athlete who subsequently admitted using testosterone and whose sample was positive based on IRMS had a T/E ratio of less than 4:1.  

200. Dr. Shackleton testified that the delta values of the 5alpha diol and 5beta diol testosterone metabolites, as measured by IRMS, can vary significantly after a single dose of testosterone based on:  individual variability (whether the individual is naturally predisposed to produce 5alpha or 5beta) (Tr. at 145-46); the method of administration (application of testosterone to the skin in the form of a gel or a patch favors 5alpha production over 5beta production) (Tr. at 146-47); and when the testosterone dose was applied (the 5alpha diol and 5beta diol delta values tend to drop quickly together but depending on the individual return to normal at different rates) (Tr. at 152, 222-23).  Dr. Shackleton’s opinion is consistent with the opinion expressed by Dr. Schänzer and the findings of the Cologne study.  (Tr. at 1186-88).  Dr. Amory also acknowledged that the production of the 5alpha diol metabolite would be favored when a testosterone patch was applied to an athlete’s scrotum.  (Tr. at 1604).  The Panel found this observation interesting because the use of a testosterone patch on the scrotum was the method of doping referenced by the German doctor in the website article discussed during cross-examination of Mr. Landis.  (Tr. at 1639-41, Ex. 123). 

201. Dr. Shackleton testified further that one could expect even more variation between the 5alpha and 5beta metabolites if multiple doses or different testosterone products were involved.  (Tr. at 223-24).

202. Respondent argues that none of the subjects in the studies discussed in the testimony has a T/E or IRMS profile that matches Respondent’s test results.  The Panel does not find this argument persuasive.  In each of the studies, the subjects received testosterone administration by a single method (injection, oral, or gel).  Further, none of the study’s subjects was mixing methods of administration, using masking creams or regulating dose and timing in order to avoid detection in a doping control test.
XII. RESPONDENT’S DEFENSE THAT TESTOSTERONE USE WOULD NOT BENEFIT A CYCLIST.  
203. Respondent asserted one additional defense that merits comment by the Panel.  Respondent seeks to rebut the evidence of his Stage 17 Adverse Analytical Finding based on his claim that it would have been illogical for him to have used testosterone during the Tour because testosterone would not benefit a cyclist.
204. Significantly, it is not a required element of USADA’s case to prove that use of testosterone would benefit a cyclist.  Ex. 1, Article 15.2.1.  The absence of scientific studies to support the efficacy of a particular doping practice has never been a defense to an Adverse Analytical Finding.  Accordingly, the Panel does not need to resolve the question of whether the use of exogenous testosterone actually enhances recovery for a cyclist.  
205. Here, the overwhelming evidence submitted at the hearing established that a number of riders, including Joseph Papp, who testified, believed that testosterone would aid their cycling and chose to cheat through the use of testosterone based on that belief.  Mr. Papp testified from his own personal experience that testosterone had “a beneficial effect, during a stage race.”  With respect to Respondent’s claim that testosterone would not benefit a cyclist, Mr. Papp also testified:  

It’s such a false statement that it makes me angry.  And, yeah, why am I here?  I’m not getting anything out of being here, and in reality, I have everything to lose by being here.  My friends from cycling are gone; they cut me off.  My team has cut me off.  I’m not in the danger of not being able to work in the field that I want to work in now.  I’m no longer cycling.  But that just denies what’s happening in cycling.  It denies the doping that exists.
(Tr. at 998).
206. While Respondent’s pre-hearing brief stated that Mr. Landis knew testosterone would not benefit a rider in the Tour and suggests, therefore, that he would have no reason to take it, Mr. Landis contradicted his own brief and testified at the hearing that he had no opinion on the issue but had heard others talk about using it and how it benefited them.  (Tr. at 1722-23).
207. Indeed,  one of USADA’s exhibits was a letter from UCI that stated that in tests conducted by UCI in the years 2002-2006, 18 cyclists other than Respondent tested positive for testosterone and another 49 incurred anti-doping rule violations for use of other anabolic steroids.  (Ex. 98).  
208. Dr. Catlin also testified that in his opinion low doses of testosterone would enhance a cyclist’s ability to recover during a long stage race.  (Tr. at 1199).  

209. Respondent’s expert Dr. Amory disagreed with Dr. Catlin’s opinion.  Dr. Amory testified that based on his review of the literature, there was no convincing evidence that testosterone provides any benefit for an endurance athlete.  (Tr. at 1549-50).  Dr. Amory was unaware of any current research that directly studied the use of testosterone to aid recovery.  (Tr. at 1558).

210. Dr. Amory acknowledged that it would not surprise him if the testosterone levels of a cyclist dropped during a long stage race.  (Tr. at 1595).  Joseph Papp, a former cyclist who admitted to doping with testosterone, testified that he used mico-doses of testosterone gel for the express purpose of keeping his testosterone at normal levels during long stage races (Tr. at 983-84), thereby gaining benefit from maintaining his normal testosterone level without triggering doping controls.  

211. Although the Panel does not reach any conclusions regarding the efficacy of testosterone, the Panel does reject Respondent’s contention that there is any basis to conclude that it would be illogical for a cyclist to use testosterone in an effort to gain an unfair advantage.  

XIII. CONCLUSION

212. Based on the foregoing, the Panel finds that USADA has met its burden to establish an anti-doping rules violation by Respondent to the Panel’s comfortable satisfaction.  The IRMS analysis of Respondent’s Stage 17 Sample was properly declared an Adverse Analytical Finding by LNDD.  The defenses asserted by Respondent regarding the IRMS analysis of his Stage 17 Sample failed to establish any violation of the ISL and did not convince the Panel that the results were unreliable.  Instead, the extensive documentation presented in this case, which was reviewed in depth by the Panel’s own independent expert, along with the testimony of USADA’s scientific experts, confirmed that the IRMS analysis of Respondent’s Stage 17 Sample revealed the presence of exogenous testosterone. 
213. Additionally, as set forth herein, the corroborating evidence presented at trial overwhelming confirmed that the Stage 17 Adverse Analytical Finding is correct.  While Respondent claimed to be searching for the “truth” throughout the process, his extensive efforts to prevent his remaining Tour samples from being analyzed with IRMS is evidence that he knew the results would not be favorable.  Indeed, when those samples were analyzed, they revealed that he had doped at various stages of the 2006 Tour.  Further, Respondent indicated to the Panel from the beginning that the ability to reprocess the electronic data files would provide evidence that the Stage 17 analysis was incorrect.  In fact, when Respondent was given the opportunity to have those samples reanalyzed through a variety of methods, the result was always the same – positive for exogenous testosterone.  
214. The Panel also finds that Respondent’s failure to provide the blood results requested by USADA is further corroborating evidence that he was attempting to cover up his doping by preventing USADA and the Panel from receiving additional evidence related to his doping.  Importantly, the results of the his blood work appear to be consistent with the fact that he was doping with testosterone during the Tour.  The only reason that the blood evidence was not confirmed in more detail was because of Respondent’s failure to provide that evidence when it was requested.  
215. Layered on top of the Stage 17 Adverse Analytical Finding and all of the strong corroborating evidence was the testimony of Mr. LeMond that Mr. Landis told him that coming clean regarding his doping during Stage 17 would “destroy a lot of my friends and hurt a lot of people.”  This statement, combined with the threat by Mr. Landis and the attempt to intimidate Mr. LeMond on the eve of his testimony by Mr. Landis’s employee, confirm that Respondent was attempting to hide the truth of the statement he had made to Mr. LeMond.  Moreover, the failure of Respondent to disclose the intimidation attempt to the Panel when he first learned of it persuades the Panel that Mr. LeMond’s testimony regarding Respondent’s admission of doping is credible and Respondent’s denial of that admission is not.  
216. Finally, the conduct of Respondent during the arbitration process, including his willful disregard of the Orders of the Panel, indicates that he is apparently an athlete who believes that rules do not apply to him, or that at a minimum, he is willing to break those rules when he believes it will be to his advantage.  
217. Often doping cases are decided simply on the science of one single Adverse Analytical Finding.  In this case, the Panel has been presented not only with an Adverse Analytical Finding for Respondent’s Stage 17 Sample, but through the evidence presented at hearing, the Panel has received the benefit of a comprehensive and complete picture of Respondent’s doping behavior and culpable state of mind.  
218. Accordingly, this evidence leads to only one conclusion -- Respondent was doping during Stage 17 of the Tour.  His Stage 17 Sample shows it, and the reprocessing of the electronic data files confirms it.  The results of the analysis of his other Tour samples support this finding, as do his blood results.  Finally, his admission and subsequent campaign of intimidation against Mr. LeMond further confirm that that he was doping.  Any other conclusion would be unsupported by the evidence.
XIV. SANCTION

219. This is Respondent’s first anti-doping rule violation.

220. Pursuant to UCI Articles 257 and 275, Respondent is declared ineligible for a period of two years, starting on the date of this decision.

221. Respondent’s request that he be given credit for not competing from the date he voluntarily submitted a letter indicating that he would not compete is rejected.  Respondent was offered an opportunity to accept a provisional suspension by USADA, but failed to ever accept that suspension.  Moreover, the letter he submitted on January 30, 2007, was in connection with his unilateral request that the hearing be delayed.  Accordingly, there can be no claim that he was prejudiced by the delay.

222. Pursuant to UCI Rule 259, all of Respondent’s results in the 2006 Tour de France and any competitive results obtained between the 2006 Tour de France and date of this decision are disqualified.

XV. COSTS

223. The Panels finds that the costs of this arbitration will be paid by the United States Olympic Committee and that each party is responsible for their own costs and fees, except that in accordance with the Panel’s finding in paragraph 27, Respondent shall pay all travel, lodging, and related costs of the LNDD witnesses who appeared at the hearing pursuant to Respondent’s request, and the Panel’s corresponding Order, but were not called by Respondent.
Respectfully submitted this 28th day of June, 2007.
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�  See ¶ 1 of USADA’s Pre-Hearing Brief and footnote 1 of Respondent’s Rebuttal Brief in Re:  Retesting dated February 5, 2005.


�  “Note that such corroboration may not overrule or out weigh the anti-doping rules of the UCI or the WADA International Standards that are applicable to the Lab procedures and are alleged by the Respondent to have been violated.”


�  Respondent initially objected to Dr. Botrè because he was affiliated with a WADA-accredited laboratory.  However, after a conference call was held that gave each party the opportunity to question and hear from Dr. Botrè, Respondent withdrew his objection and agreed to the appointment of Dr. Botrè. 


�  USADA followed not only the Panel’s Orders regarding confidentiality, but also complied with the requirements of Article 12 of the USADA Protocol, which prevented USADA from commenting publicly on this case, despite Respondent’s request for a “public” hearing. 


�  A more detailed analysis of the applicable burdens in the this case is set forth at Section II.B of USADA’s Pre-Hearing Brief. 


�  In Respondent’s discovery brief, Exhibit 58 (the IsoPrime EA User Manual) on page 31, it states “Peaks eluting from the EA column have widely different heights. . . . In order to be sure of the accuracy of the measurement for a particular peak, then it must be checked that this peak has the same Delta value, whatever its height with the allowed dynamic range.”  (Emphasis added).  


�  Contrary to Respondent’s claim during the hearing, these facts are entirely consistent with LNDD’s discovery response where LNDD indicated that background subtraction was calculated automatically by the software.


�  Respondent does not dispute that the phone call took place in his presence, but testified that he was not aware that Mr. Geoghegan was making the phone call.  


�  With respect to the MassLynx results, the Panel notes that Dr. Brenna testified that the representations of the parties agreed that the -3.66 value for the B Sample 5A-P in the above table should be disregarded because the software did not process that result properly.  (Tr. at 288); See also GDC1052-1053.  


�  In another example where Respondent’s defense strategy was to raise issues by surprise rather than seek the truth, Respondent raised the issue of allegedly inconsistent batch numbers for the very first time in the case only after all of the LNDD witnesses who could have provided explanations had already gone back to Paris.  
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